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I’II begin this statement with an expression of gratitude on behalf of 
the Board of Governors to Jim Beeston OBE. His Chairmanship of this 
Foundation has been distinguished by his great wisdom, patience 
and diplomacy. Above all, though, his unfailing even-handedness and 
sheer determination enabled us to maintain focus on our fundamental 
long-term objective to make our schools as accessible as possible 
irrespective of  children’s faith, ethnicity or social and economic 
circumstances.   It is thanks largely to his perseverance, good humour 
and shrewd judgement that our widening accessibility agenda 
continues to break new ground. On behalf of the Board I wish to 
record our sincerest thanks. 

We have described in previous years the exceptional changes that 
the Foundation and its schools have undergone: changes which have 
often been driven by outside forces, especially political initiatives 
and wider social factors.  By now, change-management has become 
almost routine, “the new normal”, as Mr Beeston put it, no longer the 
exception to the rule but the rule itself. This has been our “business as 
usual” during 2015.

The Board and the Governing Bodies of the six publicly-funded 
academies have spent much of this period considering a significant 
change to the governance structure of the single academy trusts 
in order to merge the six separate trusts into one Multi Academy 
Trust or MAT.  This would make it easier to collaborate on joint 
employment and joint procurement projects. These benefits will 
become increasingly important during the medium to long term 
period of “flat cash” funding for these schools. They will enable a 
broad curriculum including minority subjects to be maintained. 
They will produce opportunities for collaboration with other schools, 
including the possibility of adding more Schools of the Foundation 
to the MAT. This will enhance the Foundation’s prospects of speaking 
with a more influential, united, voice on the educational stage 
locally, regionally and nationally. This is vital in the new competitive 
environment where the demise of local authority support and school 
improvement services has left many stand-alone schools feeling 
isolated in something of a vacuum.  During this coming year we 
shall concentrate on the implementation of the new governance 
structure on the understanding that the earned autonomy of these 
excellent academies must be reflected as far as possible in these new 
arrangements.

Our widening access programme has continued apace.  The 
Foundation’s schools have worked more and more closely with 
primary school partners. A wide range of educational activities and 
continuous professional development opportunities have been 
provided for primary school pupils and staff respectively.  There has 
been a further intake of pupils into the selective academies, giving 
preference to those eligible for pupil premium in respect of around 
20% of places on entry at age eleven.  A new learning hub facility 
is being developed in the east of the city at Birmingham Airport in 
partnership with the Airport. A Forest School is to be established in 
woodland owned by the Foundation previously used only by King 
Edward’s School.  These projects will assist all of the Foundation’s 
schools to further their relationships with primary schools. Plans are 
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advanced for the launch of a virtual learning environment designed 
to stretch the abilities of primary school pupils. This will provide 
staff with accessible resources to complement work on curriculum 
areas including numeracy and literacy. All of this work is designed 
to help primary schools to enjoy the benefits of affiliation with the 
Foundation.

The Foundation continues to widen accessibility to its two independent 
schools. It supports families through the provision of assisted places 
enabling children from a wide variety of backgrounds to attend one or 
other of these two great schools. The scale and ambition of this project 
would have seemed unthinkable for many years. But now our Financial 
Statements report that in 2014/15 alone we invested £2.65 million in 
assistance of this kind. In addition, we have continued to encourage 
the efforts of the Development Office to raise extra funding for assisted 
places at both King Edward’s School and King Edward VI High School for 
Girls.  Governors have been pleased to see the success of those efforts in 
growing the value of their ‘alumni giving’.  The charitable credentials of 
independent schools are again, understandably, attracting the scrutiny 
of the Charity Commission.  The Board is confident that the work being 
undertaken with primary schools in the wider community and the 
resources devoted to making the schools affordable to all will meet 
the approval of the Commission when it undertakes its review of the 
Foundation charity.  It is a source of great pride that the achievements 
of King Edward’s School have been recognised by the Times Educational 
Supplement (TES) with the award of “Best Independent-Maintained 
School Collaboration” at the 2015 TES Independent School Awards.

Turning to examination results, it has been a year of some notable 
successes for all of our schools. I wish to highlight two in particular.
The introduction of the International Baccalaureate at King Edward’s 
School was a highly significant step and a brave one too. It has been 
rewarded handsomely: KES celebrated outstanding success in 2015: 
its boys achieved 39.4 points on average compared with an average 
score globally of 29.9 points.  These results earned deserved recognition 
when the School was named “The Sunday Times International 
Baccalaureate School of the Year”. They also played a significant part in 
the award by the Tatler magazine to the Chief Master, John Claughton, 
of the coveted title “Best Head of a Public School”.

It is very pleasing to report the progress of the Foundation’s newest 
school, King Edward VI Sheldon Heath Academy. It is a comprehensive 
school serving a disadvantaged community where 59% of pupils are 
eligible for pupil premium.  Some 59% of pupils achieved at least 5 
GCSE passes at A* - C grades including English and Maths (national 
average 53%) and 39% achieved the English Baccalaureate (national 
average 22.5%).  Governors continue to be impressed by the sustained 
performance of the school given that the academic profile of its entry 
at age eleven is lower than the national average, especially in the light 
of the current constraints on public funding. 

The year has seen some major developments of new and improved 
school facilities. An extensive refurbishment programme is being 
undertaken at King Edward VI High School for Girls. At King 
Edward’s School the priority has been the improvement of the boys’ 
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sporting facilities. This has been reflected in the opening of the 
Southall Pavilion at its hockey pitch on the “Sliver” and in planning 
for a new Sports Hall.  At Camp Hill work is proceeding well to 
provide, by September 2016, the classroom and specialist teaching 
accommodation required for both schools to expand.  At Handsworth 
new science laboratories have been constructed and opened. There 
are plans to increase dining accommodation to serve the School’s 
larger numbers.  At Five Ways a new all-weather hockey surface has 
been installed and a scheme is well underway to build a pavilion with 
changing rooms.  Unfortunately progress to acquire the land at Aston 
which is necessary for that school to develop its accommodation has 
stalled but efforts are being redoubled to reach an agreement with 
the local authority.  There is better news at Sheldon Heath where a 
grant has been secured to provide a rugby pitch.

So, to sum-up, this past year has witnessed encouraging progress 
towards the Foundation’s key charitable objectives in the face of 
challenging public finances. Despite the uncertainties of the markets, 
our investment returns have continued to improve. I am confident 
that with our combination of sound decision-making and prudent 
stewardship of our assets we have all the elements in place for 
progress to be made in 2015/16.

Mr P Burns
Chairman
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The charity, The Schools of King Edward VI in Birmingham (the “Foundation”) is involved in education in Birmingham 
through eight schools, two independent schools, King Edward’s School and King Edward VI High School for Girls, five 
grammar schools (converter academies), King Edward VI Aston School, King Edward VI Camp Hill School for Boys, King 
Edward VI Camp Hill School for Girls, King Edward VI Five Ways School and King Edward VI Handsworth School for Girls, 
and one academy, the King Edward VI Sheldon Heath Academy. 

The following principles are fundamental to the Foundation and its schools:

 • education has the power to raise aspirations, to transform the lives of young people and to enhance the well-  
  being of individuals and the community. 

 • the central purpose of education is to give young people the chance to live rich, fulfilled lives and to   
  contribute to society.

 • the pursuit of excellence is central to enable children to fulfil their potential. In particular, the Foundation has   
  a belief that the academic selection of pupils can be a very effective way of achieving     
  that excellence, enabling schools to bring together and challenge the best pupils.
 

 • education does not merely involve the teaching of knowledge and skills. There are other elements which are   
  of equal importance:

  u the development of curiosity, independence of mind, a love of learning, creativity, imagination, the   
   capacity to communicate; 

  u the chance to participate in a wide range of activities, for example, sport, music, drama, outdoor   
   pursuits, involvement in the wider community;

  u the development of character and relationships, a sense of morality, care and respect for others;

  u the development of a sense of responsibility for and contribution to the community.

 • the schools of the Foundation should be rooted in the communities that they serve and be responsive to the   
  nature of those communities. In particular, all of the schools are committed to making themselves as   
  accessible as possible to all pupils, whatever their background or circumstances;

 • the provision of a variety of education, independent and state-funded, single-sex and mixed, selective and   
  non-selective.

Statement of values
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The sense of purpose and potential which the Foundation has recently clarified for itself can be set out as follows:

1. Ensure that the existing schools meet the challenges that face them through the provision of clear strategies,   
 strong support, close scrutiny and good governance.  In particular, the Foundation will need to ensure that the   
 existing schools meet the challenges that face them through the accessibility strategy, which takes different   
 forms in the independent schools, the selective Academies and Sheldon Heath, but remains at the centre of   
 the purpose of each school. 

2. Engage much more closely with the educational issues of Birmingham and support other schools in a variety of   
 ways including:

 •  through partnership; 

 •  through affiliation;

	 •  through the provision of governance; and

	 •  by taking schools into the Foundation itself. 

3. Form strategic partnerships with the local community, particularly with the local business community, to provide   
 a greater awareness of the significance of education to the city’s prosperity and in particular highlight the   
 contribution of the Foundation and its schools. 
 

4. Become a voice that is listened to in the wider educational debates by forming strong relationships with major   
 organisations - governmental, political, civic, business and educational - at the highest level.  It would be of great   
 value to the Foundation to be seen as a leader on issues related to:

 • selection; 

	 • accessibility; 

	 • social mobility; 

	 • character education; and

	 • education for a multi-cultural community. 

5. Ensure that the historic and current significance of the Foundation to education is more widely understood in the  
 community it serves.

Our five pillars of activity 
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Reference and Administrative Information

The Governors of the Schools of King Edward VI in Birmingham is a corporate body established by Royal Charter in 1552 and is regulated by the
Birmingham (King Edward the Sixth) Schools Act 1900 together with subsequent Schemes of the Board of Education and Charity Commissioners.
The Schools of King Edward the Sixth in Birmingham is a registered charity, number 529051. It is VAT registered, number 487399769.

Schools

The Foundation is comprised of: 

 Independent Schools King Edward’s School (330/6076; 852 boys)  
  Edgbaston Park Road
  BIRMINGHAM
  B15 2UA
  Chief Master:  Mr John A Claughton MA (Oxon)              

  King Edward VI High School for Girls (330/6077; 567 girls)  
  Edgbaston Park Road
  BIRMINGHAM
  B15 2UB
  Principal: Mrs Ann Clark MA (Cantab), PGCE, NPQH

In addition to being an educational charity and proprietors of the two fee-charging schools, the Governors as a voluntary body within the meaning of
the Education Act 1944, established five Voluntary Aided Grammar Schools. From 1 August 2011, these Schools converted to academy status and
became companies limited by guarantee. The Foundation Governors own the land and buildings provided and occupied rent free, under the terms of
a licence, by the Grammar Schools which are themselves exempt charities. From 2010 the Foundation has sponsored an academy at Sheldon Heath.
The financial results of these Schools are reported separately in their own academy accounts.

 Grammar Schools
 (Converter Academies) King Edward VI Aston School (330/5408; 777 boys)   
  Frederick Road
  BIRMINGHAM
  B6 6DJ
  Head: Mr Colin Parker MHist, MBA, NPQH

  King Edward VI Camp Hill School for Boys (330/5407; 752 boys)  
  Vicarage Road
  BIRMINGHAM
  B14 7QJ
  Head: Mr Martin Garrod NPQH

  King Edward VI Camp Hill School for Girls (330/5406; 924 girls)  
  Vicarage Road
  BIRMINGHAM
  B14 7QJ
  Head: Mrs Linda Johnson BEd, MEd, NPQH

  King Edward VI Five Ways School (330/5405; 1,204 pupils)  
  Scotland Lane
  BIRMINGHAM
  B32 4BT
  Head: Mrs Yvonne Wilkinson BA (Hons), PGCE, NPQH

  King Edward VI Handsworth School for Girls (330/5404; 926 girls)  
  Rose Hill Road
  BIRMINGHAM
  B21 9AR
  Head: Mrs Elisabeth Wager BA (Hons), NPQH
  Acting Headmistress: Mrs Clare Berry BA (Hons), PGCE (from 27 November 2015)

 Sponsored Academy King Edward VI Sheldon Heath Academy (330/33005; 1,228 pupils)  
  Sheldon Heath Road
  BIRMINGHAM
  B26 2RZ
  Principal: Mr John P Allen BA (Hons), MEd, NPQH

Pupil numbers taken from the School Census (January 2015). 

Governors’ report
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Governors
The Governors, who are also trustees of the charity, were in office at the date of approval of the accounts and served on the Board throughout the 
period are set out below, together with their membership of Committees:

   

Governors’ report

Membership of Committees

Policy & 
Strategy

Committee

Independent 
Schools’ 

Governing 
Body

Finance & 
Investment 
Committee

Academies’
Committee

Nominations 
Committee

Audit
Committee

Co-opted Governors

Mr J Beeston OBE, DipTP   *   

Mr P Burns BA (Chairman) * * * * *

Mr S G Campbell LLB (until 28 September 2015)

Mr G Chahal BSc, PGDipPharm * * *

Mr T Clarke MA (Deputy Chairman) * * * *

Mrs J Green BA (until 10 January 2016) * * *

Mrs J de B Jarratt JP, BA (until 29 September 2014)

Mr G Marsh TD, DL, FICE (appointed 1 October 2014) * *

Mr B J Matthews BSc, FCA * *

Mr G P Thomas BSc, FRICS * * * *

Professor H Thomas (from 1 September 2014) *

Nominated Governors

Dr B J Adab BA, MPhil, PhD, FHEA
(Aston University) *

Mrs G Ball OBE, FCCA
(University of Birmingham) * * * *

Mrs S Stobbs MA
(University of Cambridge) *

Councillor R Alden (appointed 7 November 2015)
(Birmingham City Council)
Dr J Sherwood MA, D Phil
(University of Oxford) *

Mr I Metcalfe
(Chamber of Commerce) * *

Professor D Tidmarsh BSc, PhD, FIMechE, CEng, FBIM
(Confederation of British Industry) *

Mr P A Christopher MA (Cantab), FRSA
(Grammar Schools’ Teachers) * * * *

Mrs J Hundle LLB (appointed 1 October 2014)
(Independent Schools’ Parents) *

Mr G Andronov (Bailiff)
(Independent Schools’ Teachers) * * * * *

Mrs S Roberts BSc, FCA, FCIS 
(Grammar Schools’ Parents) * * *

Councillor J Hutchings JP (until 6 November 2015)
(Birmingham City Council)
Councillor Dr B Henley BSc, MSc, DBA, MCIM, FCMI 
(Birmingham City Council) *

Co-opted Governors are appointed by the Board and serve for a term of five years.  Nominative Governors are appointed by the organisation 
indicated in italics and serve for a term of five years.  

In addition to the above, the Independent Schools’ Governing Body has appointed three Non-Board Governors who are not Trustees of the 
Foundation.  They are – Mr S M Southall MA, FIA, Mrs A Tonks and Ms L C Pearson.

The Audit Committee has appointed one Non-Board Governor: Mrs A East BA (Law).
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Officers and Advisers

Secretary to the Governors: Mr John E Collins LLB
(Until 31 December 2015) The Schools of King Edward VI in Birmingham
 Foundation Office
 Edgbaston Park Road
 BIRMINGHAM
 B15 2UD 

Interim Executive Director: Mr David Wheeldon BEd, BA, MSc, FRSA
(From 1 January 2016) The Schools of King Edward VI in Birmingham
 Foundation Office
 Edgbaston Park Road
 BIRMINGHAM
 B15 2UD 

Director of Finance: Mr Robert J Church BA (Hons), FCA
 The Schools of King Edward VI in Birmingham
 Foundation Office
 Edgbaston Park Road
 BIRMINGHAM
 B15 2UD 

Banker: Lloyds Bank plc
 PO Box 908
 125 Colmore Row
 BIRMINGHAM
 B3 2DS

Legal Advisor: Mr Adrian Watson BA (Law)
 Veale Wasbrough Vizards LLP 
 3 Brindley Place 
 BIRMINGHAM
 B1 2JB

Auditors: BDO LLP
 2 Snowhill
 Birmingham
 B4 6GA

Property Advisor: Bilfinger, GVA
 3 Brindley Place
 BIRMINGHAM
 B1 2JB

Investment Manager: Barclays Wealth
 1 Churchill Place
 LONDON
 E14 5HP

Website: www.schoolsofkingedwardvi.co.uk

Governors’ report
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Structure, Governance and Management

Organisation

The Governors determine the general policy of the Foundation guided by 
reports of appropriate committees and are responsible for the governance 
of the two Independent Schools.  The Governors appoint the majority of 
members of the Governing Bodies of individual Academies, which are 
responsible for the policy and financial management of their Academies.  
The day-to-day School management is delegated to the Headteachers and 
the Foundation management to the Secretary to the Governors. 

Mr P Burns has been elected Chairman of the Board for a period ending 
31 August 2017 and Mr T Clarke has been elected Deputy Chairman of 
the Board for a period ending 31 August 2018. Mrs G Ball OBE and Mr G 
Andronov held office as Bailiff and Deputy Bailiff respectively for the year 
to 31 August 2015.

The Board of Governors meets at least six times per year and receives 
reports from the following Committees:

The Policy and Strategy Committee (PSC) which considers matters 
of general policy concerning the Foundation, including educational 
policy. It is this Committee which is responsible for recommending to 
the Board the allocation and distribution of the Foundation’s resources. 
The Education Advisory Group (EAG) comprises of the Heads of the 
Independent Schools and Academies under the Chairmanship of Mr J 
A Claughton (Chief Master of the Foundation). The Group advises and 
submits recommendations to PSC on matters of educational policy. 

The Independent Schools’ Governing Body which deals with matters 
relating to the two Independent Schools, known as King Edward’s School 
and King Edward VI High School for Girls.

The Finance and Investment Committee which deals with matters 
relating to the finances of the Foundation including pensions, matters 
relating to the Foundation Office, investments including investment 
property, lands, and hereditaments of the Foundation. The Governors 
of the respective Schools are responsible for their School sites which 
nevertheless remain vested in the Foundation.

The Academies Committee which deals with matters of common 
interest relating to the six Academies collectively.

The Nominations Committee which makes recommendations about the 
membership of the Foundation Board and its Standing Committees.

The Audit Committee which deals with the review of financial reporting, 
internal control and risk management, internal and external audit.

Membership of the Committees is determined annually by the Governors 
and is indicated above.  

The Chairmen and Deputy Chairmen of Committees during the period 
were as follows:

Committee Chairman Deputy Chairman

Policy and Strategy 
Committee

Mr P Burns Professor D Tidmarsh

Independent Schools’ 
Governing Body

Mr T Clarke Mrs S Stobbs

Finance & Investment 
Committee

Mr G P Thomas Mr B J Matthews

Academies’ Committee Mr P A Christopher Professor H Thomas

Governors’ report

Nominations
Committee

Mr P Burns Mr T Clarke

Audit Committee Mrs G Ball OBE Mrs A East

All Governors give of their time freely and no remuneration was paid in 
the period.  Governors are able to claim travel expenses.  No Governor 
or person connected with a Governor received any benefit from either 
means-tested bursaries or scholarships awarded to our pupils other than 
as disclosed in Note 20.

A number of Governors of the six Academies have been reappointed or 
replaced during the period as they resign or reach the end of their term of 
office.  The Chairmanships during the period were as follows:

Academy Chairman

King Edward VI Aston School Mr G Dupree 

King Edward VI Camp Hill School for Boys Mr B J Matthews

King Edward VI Camp Hill School for Girls Ms E Conway

King Edward VI Five Ways School Professor H Thomas 

King Edward VI Handsworth School for Girls Mrs S Roberts

King Edward VI Sheldon Heath Academy Mr P A Christopher

Procedure for Recruitment, Induction and Training of Trustees

The Foundation Board currently comprises eight Governors appointed by 
the Foundation (the maximum is 12) and 12 Governors nominated by the 
following external bodies:  Aston University (1), University of Birmingham 
(1), University of Cambridge (1), University of Oxford (1), Birmingham City 
Council (2), Birmingham Chamber of Commerce (1), CBI (1), Grammar 
Schools’ Parents (1), Grammar Schools’ Teachers (1), Independent Schools’ 
Parents (1), Independent Schools’ Teachers (1) .  Regard is given to the 
skills mix of the Governors to ensure that the Foundation Board has all the 
necessary skills required to contribute to the objects of the Charity.  The 
Nominations Committee oversees recruitment.

The term of office for any Governor is five years. Subject to remaining 
eligible to be a particular type of Governor any Governor may be 
reappointed or re-elected.  The Governors who were in office at the date 
of approval of the accounts and served throughout the period, except 
where shown, are listed on page 6. During the period under review the 
Foundation Board held 6 meetings. 

The induction and training of Governors is important to the Foundation. 
Specific steps are taken as follows:

1. The majority of Governors are appointed by external bodies but   
 advice is offered to guide them and appointments of co-opted   
 Governors are guided by the fullest possible consideration of a   
 Nominations Committee which meets regularly to consider the skills,  
 attributes, and balance of Members.  All appointment procedures are  
 formal rigorous and transparent.
2. All Governors receive a welcome pack and personal briefing. 
3. Documents relating to contemporary developments are circulated  
 to Governors together with DfE guidance and Charity Commission   
 documents.  At meetings Governors have the benefit of specialist   
 advice.
4. Periodic conferences and focussed training sessions are organised.
5. Subscriptions are made to appropriate organisations and   
 publications.
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Risk Management Policy and Systems

The objectives of the Foundation’s Risk Management Policy are to:-

1. Integrate risk management into the culture of the Foundation;
2. Manage risk in accordance with best practice;
3. Anticipate and respond to changing social, environmental and   
 legislative requirements;
4. Prevent loss, disruption, damage and injury and reduce the cost of   
 risk, thereby maximising resources;
5. Inform policy and operational decisions by identifying risks and their  
 likely impact;
6. Raise awareness of the need for risk management.

School Risk Registers are maintained at each of the Schools and a generic 
Risk Register is maintained at the Foundation Office covering the financial, 
governance, payroll and admissions areas that the Foundation Office is 
responsible for. On a regular basis the Risk Registers are presented to and 
discussed at the Foundation Audit Committee.  

The Governors, through the Audit Committee have examined the major 
risks facing the Foundation and have identified those risks which could 
produce the most serious consequences.  Systems and procedures have 
been established to manage those risks. 

Employment

The Foundation is committed to regular communication with all staff. It is 
an equal opportunities employer. Employment, training and promotion 
are based on merit for all staff.

Aims and Objectives

Charitable Objects

The objects of the Foundation are set out in the 1900 Act as amended by a 
scheme agreed with the Charity Commission on 7 March 2012 and relate 
to the advancement of education for the public benefit principally through 
the support of the eight Schools.

Aims

The aims of the Foundation are set out in the Statement of Values on page 3.

Objectives

1. To maintain and improve the academic standards of the Schools and  
 provide extra-curricular enrichment and extension opportunities.
2. To ensure that school buildings are in good order and developed   
 where possible.
3. To widen accessibility to all of the Schools of the Foundation. 
4. To further promote partnerships between the Schools and the   
 community.
5. To continue sponsorship of King Edward VI Sheldon Heath Academy  
 and to make it the educational institution of choice in that area of   
 East Birmingham.
6. To provide proper financial management to maximise the   
 Foundation grant making to the Schools.
7. To reduce exposure to financial risk from the Defined Benefit Pension Scheme.

Strategies to Achieve the Period’s Objectives

1. Governors perform a strategic role by ensuring that School   
 leadership teams promote the following: formulation of School   
 Improvement Plans with SMART objectives and continuous self-  
 assessment/review procedures; robust performance management   
 strategies; tailored professional development programmes; regular   
 review of the curriculum; analysis of data on pupil performance;   
 implementation of differentiation and personalised learning   
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 techniques; development of study skills; use of ICT; maintenance of   
 an effective pastoral care system; provision of a wide array of   
 stimulating extracurricular activities.
 
2. Significant planning and development work has taken place at a   
 number of the Schools. Notably in order to address significant   
 funding issues in the selective academies (grammar schools), work is  
 being planned at all of them to facilitate expansion. At both Camp   
 Hill Boys and Camp Hill Girls a building project will be securing three  
 additional classrooms and two laboratories to cater for the pupil   
 expansion. The two independent schools have also benefitted from   
 investment. At King Edward’s School phase 2 of the “Sliver” project   
 was completed with the building of a hockey pitch pavilion   
 alongside the hugely successful artificial pitch at Eastern Road. At the  
 High School for Girls a significant programme of classroom and office  
 refurbishment was undertaken financed by School reserves.   
 Discussion has continued into the design and feasibility of   
 developing a Sports Centre at King Edward’s School.

3. The Foundation continues to support the means-tested Assisted   
 Places scheme at the Independent Schools and, indeed, has   
 committed to increasing funding from 1 September 2014 as part of   
 the widening access initiative. Both independent schools have raised   
 funds aimed at providing further means-tested assistance to lower   
 income families and are looking to extend the scope of the operation.  
 In relation to King Edward’s School, the fund raising campaign for the   
 King Edward’s School Birmingham Trust Fund, established principally   
 to generate support from the School’s alumni, has continued   
 successfully. During the year this structure was transferred into King   
 Edwards High School for Girls with the launch of the King Edwards VI  
 High School for Girls Birmingham Trust. The Development Office at the  
 School which has been so successful now supports both charities.
 
4. The Foundation continues to strengthen its commitment to public   
 benefit. Links with the community are an important part of this
 commitment and are outlined in detail later in this report. The   
 Foundation has also appointed a Director of Access who has   
 co-ordinated the outreach programme of the Foundation Schools   
 with local primary schools. As well as activities for pupils this has   
 involved continuous professional development for primary school   
 teachers. The results of the work to improve familiarisation with the   
 11+ test of the grammar schools have been very encouraging and   
 indicators are that applications from disadvantaged communities   
 have increased. The Foundation has worked with its five selective   
 academies to amend their admissions policies and this work means   
 that disadvantaged children eligible for pupil premium will have   
 some priority for admission to those schools.
 
5. The staff and students at Sheldon Heath have continued to enjoy   
 settling into their new accommodation and any remaining snagging  
 issues have now largely been overcome so that the school   
 community is benefitting from the first class facilities which it   
 deserves. There is a waiting list for admission to the Academy at age   
 eleven, the examination results are pleasing, and the sixth form has   
 grown considerably so the indicators suggest it is the school of   
 choice for this area of East Birmingham. The focus now is to cement   
 links with local feeder primary schools.

6. Governors continue to monitor the performance of investments, and  
 regularly review management accounts, budgets and long-term
 forecasts. The Finance and Investment Committee, which reports to   
 the Board on such matters, meet six times in the year. The Committee
 is assisted by the Property Advisor and Investment Manager. The   
 Governors are mindful that the current level of expenditure exceeds   
 that which is prudent in the long term but the spending is central to   
 its strategic aim of widening access to its selective schools. A ten-year
 forecast has been produced recognising that in the long term the   
 Foundation must adhere to the financial disciplines which will ensure
 sustainable levels of expenditure..
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7. Governors took the decision to close their defined benefit scheme to  
 new members from April 2010, and to open a defined contribution
 scheme open to new staff, and those staff who had been eligible but  
 had not joined the defined benefits scheme. The Governors, with
 agreement from the Pensions Regulator, initiated a recovery plan,   
 and, with actuarial advice, continue to monitor the scheme’s   
 finances. Governors continue to make additional financial   
 contributions to the deficit recovery plan and will await the outcome  
 of the results of the triannual review at 31 March 2015; the results of   
 which will be discussed during 2015/16. 

Public Benefit

Under the Charities Act 2011, a charity must be established for charitable 
purposes only.  A charitable purpose is a purpose that falls within section 
3 (1) of the 2011 Act and which is for public benefit.  The list in section 3(1) 
includes the advancement of education. 

The Governors recognise their responsibilities as charity trustees.  The 
Governors have recorded in this report, the principle activities carried out 
by the Foundation and the Schools within the Foundation in furtherance 
of the charitable purposes of the Foundation for the public benefit. 

In summary the principle activities are:

•	 The	gifting,	under	the	terms	of	licences,	of	private	land	and	buildings		
 to the five Grammar Schools (Converter Academies) and the   
 provision of grants to assist with the maintenance and improvement  
 of this property;
•	 The	provision	of	funding	to	support	means–tested	assisted	places	at		
 the two Independent Schools to widen accessibility to those Schools;
•	 The	provision	of	a	central	bursarial	function	to	the	Schools.
•	 The	sponsorship	of	an	academy	serving	an	area	of	the	City	which		 	
 included communities which are severely disadvantaged.

In addition, all of the Schools undertake numerous activities and share 
facilities with neighbouring schools and community groups.

Where practical, the Governors, have indicated the financial value of the 
public benefit in this report.

The Governors continue to review relevant guidance produced by the 
Charity Commission. 

The Governors have therefore complied with the duty in section 17 of 
the Charities Act 2011 to have due regard to public benefit guidance 
published by the Charity Commission. Further detail is set out below.

Governors’ report

Grants 
 
The Foundation allocates annual grants from the expected income of the 
Endowment – Income Fund to the Independent Schools and Grammar 
Schools (Converter Academies) according to an agreed formula and set 
out in the table below: 

2015 2014
£ £

Grants payable during the year
Independent Schools:
       Assisted Places 2,585,390 2,132,716
       Capital Works - 219,900
       Widening Access 20,000 40,000
       Other 30,000 12,500

2,635,390 2,405,116
Academies:
       Capital Grant (Grammar Schools) 3,282,710 237,900
       Widening Access 60,000 120,000

3,342,710 357,900

Total* 5,978,100 2,763,016

Transfers to the Designated Fund
Grant earmarked for Grammar Schools -       613,100
Access Fund - 200,000
Total - 813,100

*See Management Information: Endowment Fund - Income
 
The bulk of the allocation to the Independent Schools is to widen 
accessibility to the Schools by funding means-tested assisted places, 
merit-based scholarships and a staff remission scheme, with the 
remainder earmarked to fund building work.  The bulk of the grants to the 
Grammar Schools are earmarked to fund building work and these grants 
are held within the Designated Fund. 

King Edward’s School and King Edward VI High School for Girls 
(Independent Schools)

The Independent Schools offer assistance to a significant number of 
pupils, in the form of means-tested assisted places and scholarships. 
Both are awarded on the basis of academic ability assessed as part of the 
admissions process at 11+ and 16+. The funding for assistance is made by 
the Governors on the recommendations of the Chief Master and Principal 
of the Schools who in turn make the awards.

 2015  2014

Number of Assisted Places Holders  314 298

Number of pupils in receipt of Assistance  310 296

As a % of total pupils at the Schools  22.0%  21.0%

% of pupils receiving an Assisted Place covering > 90% of the fees  51.3%  52.4%

Pupils receiving a 90% or over Assisted Place  159  155

Pupils receiving a 100% Assisted Place (included in the figures above)  114  112

Annual cost of Assisted Places / Benefit to the Parents  £2,891,358  £2,709,024

Annual cost to the School, (note 3)  2,645,320  2,323,000

     Funding of Assisted Places

Grant to the Schools from the Foundation  £2,585,390  £2,132,716

King Edward’s School Birmingham Trust  £515,934  £438,639

Other Donors  £37,673 £47,646
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A further 203 pupils received scholarships, 17 pupils received a sibling 
discount (for being the third child) and 19 pupils benefitted from the staff
concession scheme; the cost of which was £790,815 to the schools.

Therefore the full benefit provided by the Governors’ means-tested 
Assisted Places, hardship payments, scholarships, sibling discounts and 
staff concession for both schools, as shown in Note 3, for the year was 
£3,436,135 representing 21% of gross fees. Further information on fees 
assistance is provided by each school in their respective reports.

Fees in comparison with schools, locally and nationally, are relatively low. 
The Governors have tried to keep the fees within the compass of as wide a 
range of pupils as possible. Further details of the activities and educational 
achievements of these schools can be found on pages 14 to 23.

Grammar Schools (Converter Academies)

Our five Grammar Schools have been in Birmingham since 1883. They are 
free and all of them have been judged “outstanding” by Ofsted. King
Edward VI Aston School (Boys) and King Edward VI Handsworth School for 
Girls are still on their original sites in those areas of the City. King Edward
VI Camp Hill School for Boys and King Edward VI Camp Hill School for Girls 
are two separate single sex schools on a shared site in Kings Heath and
King Edward VI Five Ways School is a mixed school in Bartley Green, 
adjacent to the reservoir only seven miles south west of the City Centre.

The King Edward VI Schools seek to attain the highest academic levels 
whilst making provision for pupils to benefit from their extra-curricular
programmes. Such enrichment programmes develop other skills and 
interests and prepare them for a full and satisfying life. The Schools were 
again highly placed in national league tables of examination results as 
can be seen from the table on page 15.  Almost all leavers proceed into 
higher education.

The five Grammar Schools were earmarked with annual capital grants 
from the Foundation as in recent years. No new capital grant was 
earmarked in the year compared to £613,100 in the previous year. 

Pupil numbers in January 2015 were 4,853 (cf 4,423 in January 2014, 4,404 
in January 2013). The numbers compare to 3,511 in 1995 which means
that, effectively, a four form entry school (larger than Aston or Camp Hill 
Boys) has been added to the Foundation in that period. Demand for the
Schools remained strong and the number of applicants who took the 
entrance examination in September 2013 for entry in September 2014 
was 4,482 (up from 4,353 in the previous year). The figure supercedes the 
previous highest number of candidates dating back to 2001. The number 
of admission appeals pursued to a final hearing was 38 compared to 46 in 
the previous year. Three appeals were allowed (five in the previous year).

Further details of the activities and educational achievements of the 
Schools can be found on pages 24 to 25. and in more detail in their own 
financial statements which can be found on their school website.

King Edward VI Sheldon Heath Academy 

The Foundation is the sponsor of King Edward VI Sheldon Heath Academy 
since 2010. The school is a mixed school based in Sheldon Heath on the
eastern side of the city. The school’s academic results have been 
improving since the Foundation became its sponsor. 

Foundation Office

The Foundation Office provides a central bursarial function supplying 
financial, human resources and administrative services to the 
Independent and Grammar Schools (Converter Academies). By doing so 
the Schools reduces their cost base allowing them to concentrate more 
resources and management time in teaching and learning, and enabling 
the Independent Schools to maintain fees as low as possible.

2015
£

Management and administrative overheads* 1,541,675

Turnover:
Two Independent Schools 14,652,213
Foundation Investment Income (inc. Total Return Transfer) 5,234,972
Five Grammar Schools (Converter Academies) 25,450,915

45,338,103
Costs as a % of  Income - 2015 3.40%
Costs as a % of  Income - 2014 3.17%

*See Management Information: Endowment Fund - Income

The figures for the Grammar Schools’ Income excludes grant funding from 
the Foundation.

King Edward’s Consortium (KEC)

The King Edward VI Camp Hill School for Girls’ School-Centred Initial 
Teacher Training (SCITT) provider (known as “The King Edward’s 
Consortium”) runs fee-paying ITT programmes and pre-ITT Subject 
Knowledge Enhancement programmes. In 2014/15 most trainees were on 
School Direct (fee-paying) and School Direct (salaried) routes, with King 
Edward VI Camp Hill School for Girls as the lead school. There was a small 
number of trainees on the Classics SCITT core programme. KEC also took a 
small number of trainees on the independent school salaried programme. 
School Direct (fee-paying) and SCITT trainees paid fees of £9,000, most 
deferring payment and opting for loans from Student Finance England. 
KEC awarded NCTL-funded bursaries and scholarships to eligible fee-
paying trainees, paying a total of £400,750. To increase capacity, the 
Deputy Director of Initial Teacher Training moved from 0.4 to full-time.

Governors’ report

Percentage of income spent on the Foundation’s office running costs in 
supporting the School:
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Financial Review
Financial Results

The Foundation had funds at 31 August 2015 of £142,112,382 (2014: 
£138,349,948) representing a 2.7% increase of £3,762,434. The funds 
comprise £3,701,511 (2014: £6,372,012) of Unrestricted Funds, a 
Permanent and Expendable Endowment Fund of £10,362,986 (2014: 
£7,476,729), Restricted Funds of £2,096,774 (2014: £5,611,931) and the 
Endowment Fund – Capital of £125,951,111 (2014: £118,889,576). 

The total net incoming resources (before transfers) of all funds of the 
Foundation amounted to a deficit of £1,446,639 (2014: deficit £836,454) 
which taken with the overall gains on investments of £4,422,073, and 
the FRS 17 actuarial surplus of £787,000 on the defined benefit scheme 
produced a positive movement in funds of £3,762,434 for the year, 
compared with a positive movement of £4,023,681 for the previous year. 

Overall total income across all Funds increased by £4,042,859 to 
£23,198,817. One of the largest contributors to this increase was the 
sale of an interest in a commercial property. Total resources expended 
increased by £4,653,044 to £24,645,456 with the increase in capital 
grants to the Grammar Schools being reflected in this increase. There 
was a corresponding transfer from the Designated Fund for the Grammar 
Schools’ capital grants charged in the year. 

Independent Schools’ Fund - School fee income (net of assisted places 
and scholarships) increased by £349,224 (2.8%) and continues to perform 
well. Fees increased by just under 3% for the academic year 2014/15.  
Expenditure at the Schools was £882,338 (5.5%) higher than the previous 
year. Teaching costs (including the staffing costs of the Teachers and 
Educational Support staff, curriculum expenditure, exam fees etc) across 
both Schools is the largest area of expenditure for the Foundation and 
increased during the year by £374,973 to £11,869,800. Premises’ costs 
were £276,763 higher following a continued programme of school 
refurbishment across the Schools. The administration costs across the 
Schools increased by £265,491 with over 70% of this increase incurred 
at the Girls’ School. The Schools overall made a combined surplus of 
£206,447 for the year. Expenditure capitalised at the Boys’  School during 
the year will be transferred to the Endowment Fund - Capital in 2015/16. 
Grants were received from the Endowment Fund - Income of £2,635,390 
and were spent primarily on Assisted Places. The Schools had net 
incoming resources of £206,447 leaving a balance on their School Fund 
of £1,104,991. 

The Designated Fund reduced by £2,945,650 as previously earmarked 
funds of £3,208,106 of grants ring-fenced for the Grammar Schools were 
charged to the Fund. £2,394,106 of this total is shown within creditors 
due within one year.

Income in the Endowment Fund - Income decreased by 1.9% during 
the year with rental income performing marginally stronger than the 
previous year but offset by lower investment income.  This was in line 
with Governors’ expectations and a reflection of the Foundation’s Total 
Return Investment Strategy. The Governors agreed to transfer £1,175,000 
from the Endowment Fund - Capital to the Endowment Fund - Income in 
line with the increases in value of the listed investment portfolio. 

Overall expenditure (excluding grants) increased by £429,291 (23.3%) 
compared to the previous year. Excluding the costs of admissions the 
increase was £342,263 (18.6%). Of this increase £162,907 of additional 
funds was spent on the Widening Access Strategy compared to the 
previous year and £103,395 represented a one-off office refurbishment 
cost. The underlying operating cost of running the Foundation Office 
showed a marginal increase of £26,404 (1.7%).

The grants payable to the Grammar Schools from the Endowment Fund 
– Income were £3,332,710 of which £3,208,106 was transferred from the 
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Designated Fund. This left a net outgoing balance (after transfers) on the 
Endowment Fund - Income for the year of £718,298.

Governors are pleased to report that the Governors’ Pension Scheme 
showed a reduction in the pension liability from £4,029,000 to £2,844,000 
following the FRS 17 pension calculations.  This has been achieved as a 
result of the additional pension costs that Governors have been paying 
through an agreed recovery plan with the Scheme Trustees; with the aim 
to reduce the liability over a number of years. An additional pension cost 
of £102,044 was charged to the Endowment Fund - Income together with 
an FRS 17 actuarial pension gain of £787,000. This net credit of £684,956 
was made to the Endowment Fund - Income with a corresponding 
transfer then made to the Endowment Fund - Capital to cover the surplus.

The Endowment Fund – Capital received the proceeds from the sale of 
an interest in one of the commercial properties owned by the Foundation 
and combined with the net gains of £4,521,614 from the Foundation 
investment portfolio amounted to £8,519,143. The gains were offset by 
investment costs and depreciation charged to the Fund combined with 
the total return transfers to the Endowment Fund - Income and the FRS 17 
pension credit. Overall the Fund increased by £7,061,535 representing a 
healthy 5.9% increase.

The Permanent and Expendable Endowment Fund increased by 
£2,886,557. Much of the increase (£2,663,304) was due to a reclassification 
of a significant proportion of individual “special funds” shown previously 
within Restricted Funds. These donations have been received by the 
Foundation over many decades, with restrictions imposed by the Donor 
that only the income from the capital can be spent. It is therefore more 
appropriate to disclose these donations within a Permanent Endowment 
Fund. Other donations included within the Expendable Endowment 
Fund were given for a specific capital purpose and have been spent. 
Additional donations of £361,452 were received during the year; of which 
£358,012 was received by the Foundation to assist in the financing of the 
“Sliver” Hockey Pitch pavilion.  Depreciation and other cost amounting to 
£109,387 were charged to the Expendable Endowment Fund.

The Restricted Fund showed a £3,515,157 decrease in the year. Much of 
the decrease (£2,633,304) can be explained as above. A further £776,678 
of previous donations were transferred to the new charity “King Edward VI 
High School for Girls Birmingham Trust”.  

Pensions

The teaching staff of the Independent Schools are eligible to join 
the Teachers’ Superannuation Scheme (TPS) to which the Governors 
contributed 14.1% of salaries. This is an unfunded scheme open to the 
teaching profession. It is not managed by the Governors.
Other staff of the Independent Schools and the Foundation Office 
have been eligible to join a defined benefits scheme operated by the 
Governors. This is known as the Schools of King Edward VI in Birmingham 
Retirement Benefits Scheme (the Scheme). As detailed in Note 24 to the 
accounts, the Scheme was closed to new members from April 2010, at 
which time a new defined contribution scheme became operative.

The last triennial actuarial valuation of the Scheme liability was as at 31 
March 2015 and has been considered by Governors. Following a
comprehensive and independent review of the Scheme liability after 
the 2012 scheme valuation, changes were made to the Scheme. Future 
benefits to the Scheme were changed to a Career Average Revalued 
Earnings (“Care”) arrangement and a new three tier salary banding 
structure was introduced with differing benefit rates. The benefit rate is 
more generous for the lower salary bands, in order to protect members 
at the lower end of the pay scale. Since 2012 Governors have made 
additional contributions as part of a pension recovery plan of around 
£500,000 pa to the Scheme with the aim to reduce the pension deficit to 
a more acceptable level. The results from the 2015 valuation demonstrate 
that the funding position has improved.  



13The Schools of King Edward VI in Birmingham Report and Accounts 2014 - 2015

The Scheme liability calculated at 31 August 2015 when measured in 
accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 17 “Retirement Benefits” 
(FRS 17), had a deficit of £2,844,000, a decrease of £1,185,000 over the 
previous year. The deficit had arisen mainly from the negative impact of 
the assumptions used to calculate the Scheme liabilities. Further details 
are set out in Note 24. 

Reserves Policy

1. Governors recognise that the Foundation’s endowment cannot be   
 regarded as entirely free funds given the degree of dependence   
 upon the income from it.

2. Governors seek to maximise the return from this endowment within  
 the context of acceptable risk to capital and apply a total return
 approach in the strategic management of the investment portfolio.

3. Governors endeavour as a minimum to maintain, in real terms, a   
 constant income in perpetuity and to spend this income upon the
 charitable objects in the year of receipt or subsequently. This entails   
 holding appropriate reserves.

4. Where the income standards above can be exceeded, Governors   
 balance the desirability and value of immediate expenditure with the
 alternative of increasing the Endowment Fund and future long-term  
 sustainable income.

5 Where the income standards of (3) above cannot be met, Governors   
 will reduce expenditure to permit a lower sustainable income. They   
 seldom envisage spending the Endowment Fund given the likely   
 lower resulting income, but will do so in exceptional circumstances. 

In short, the Governors’ policy is to generate income to provide 
support for the Schools whilst maintaining the real value of the capital 
endowment fund for the long term. Governors recognise that over the 
short to medium term as the Foundation delivers its strategic objectives 
on widening accessibility and continues to focus on reducing the 
Governors’ Pension Scheme deficit that additional financial resources 
will be required. Over the next 10 years the Governors expect to see the 
“Foundation spending rate” (expressed as a percentage of the outgoings 
of the Endowment Fund compared to the value of the property and listed 
investment portfolio) of the Foundation to be around 4.5% in the short 
term but then reducing by 1% by the end of the period. The average 
“spending rate” that the Governors are committed to over the next decade 
is 4%. The long term aspiration is to reduce this percentage to a more 
sustainable rate of 3.5% or below. During the next five years Governors 
expect the reserves in the main Endowment Fund to remain consistent 
with current levels but by the end of the 10 years to have increased to over 
£130 million. It is unlikely that in the short term as withdrawals are made 
from capital that the value of the property and listed investment portfolio 
will keep pace with inflation.  

The Governors calculate that the free reserves available to the 
Foundation, comprise the Unrestricted Funds which amount to 
£3,701,511 (2014: £6,372,012).
  
Investment Powers and Policy

The Powers are governed by the 1900 Act as amended by the Scheme of 
2012 and the Trustee Act 2000. The investments comprise the landed
estate and narrow and wide range quoted investments.

The policy of the Foundation is to manage the Foundation assets in 
accordance with statutory constraints with a view to achieving an income 
that will allow it to further its educational objectives immediately, whilst 
at the same time bearing in mind that the assets must be invested in such 
a manner that they produce appropriate future income. The Foundation 
has delegated the day-to-day management of the listed investment 
portfolio to Barclays Wealth.
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The investments have continued to be managed in line with the 
Governors’ policy and instructions. Portfolio performance is measured 
regularly against a custom benchmark, comprising an appropriate market 
index selected for each asset class as agreed between the Investment 
Managers and the Governors. The overall total return performance 
achieved on the main portfolio was 3.93% (net of fees) against a 
benchmark of 4.16%.

Ethical Investment Policy

The Foundation’s overarching responsibility is to maximise returns on its 
investments in order to pursue its charitable objectives.  

Specific investments are made in properties and listed investments in 
accordance with an overall strategic investment asset allocation policy
approved by the Finance and Investment Committee. This Committee 
regularly reviews the investments and engages in pragmatic dialogue with 
the Foundation’s Investment Managers and Property Advisers about any areas 
of ethical concern which the Investment Managers or Advisers have identified.

The Foundation will after a full evaluation of the known facts consider 
disinvesting or refraining from investing in specific securities, assets or
businesses that are associated with activities perceived to be unethical.

The Foundation believes that this ethical investment policy will not result in 
any significant financial detriment, with the balance of all impartial
research indicating that an ethical investment policy neither adds to nor 
detracts from investment performance.

Auditors

Our auditors, BDO LLP have expressed their willingness to continue in office.

Future Plans

The Governors will continue to pursue their aims to the best of their ability 
according to the prevailing circumstances. They may modify these aims if 
the situation indicates.  In particular:

•	 Given	continuing	economic	uncertainties	the	Governors	will	monitor		
 their investment portfolios carefully with their professional advisors   
 and will respond accordingly. The Governors are conscious that   
 current spending levels exceed those which are prudent and   
 sustainable given the need to preserve and indeed enhance the real   
 capital value of the endowment. A ten-year plan has been developed  
 which will be kept under scrutiny to ensure that spending including   
 the distribution of grants returns to sustainable levels over that   
 period. It is vital that Governors operate their grant distribution   
 policy to ensure that future distribution is appropriate in all   
 circumstances, particularly in the context of public benefit in   
 widening access to the Independent Schools.

•	 Over	the	last	five	years	Governors	have	developed	a	strategy	to		 	
 widen accessibility to the selective schools for able children from all
 backgrounds in Birmingham and the surrounding area. The   
 Marketing and Communications Director appointed to raise the   
 profile of the Schools and in particular increase awareness of their   
 admissions policy and procedures will assist the new Director of   
 Access who has now been appointed to plan a programme of   
 outreach activities aimed at primary school children and staff.   
 Governors will consider the programme and provide resources as   
 appropriate. They will also consider strategies to ensure that the   
 programme is financially viable in the future.   

•	 Given	the	constraints	of	current	and	predicted	funding	levels,	and	the		
 prolonged difficult economic conditions Governors will continue to
 assist the Grammar Schools in their financial planning to enable them  
 to be better placed to face these difficulties.
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•	 Governors will seek to support the Schools to fulfil their educational   
 aspirations and will continue to provide funding to further develop
 educational facilities at the Schools. In particular the Governors will   
 support the expansion of the Grammar Schools as part of their   
 strategy to cope with falling income per pupil, and will ensure that   
 investment in the facilities at the Independent Schools is   
 commensurate with that expected at leading independent schools in   
 the country.

•	 Through	various	school	based	initiatives	including	the	teacher-	 	
 training consortium, the Governors will continue to support activities  
 in the community which are in line with their charitable objects. Thus,  
 Governors will consider further initiatives to engage with wider   
 educational issues in the City and nationally and this may involve   
 partnerships and affiliations with other schools, educational   
 institutions, government and business organisations including the   
 exploration of potential future academy sponsorship.

•	 Governors	will	continue	to	explore	ways	of	raising	the	profile	of	the		 	
 Foundation’s schools and outreach activities in the business   
 community and will ensure that the schools provide an education   
 which is relevant to prepare young people for their adult life, in   
 particular the world of work.

•	 Governors in considering the current educational landscape have   
 determined that the King Edward VI Academies and Foundation would   
 be stronger and better placed for the future if a King Edward VI   
 Multi-Academy Trust was formed made up of the six Academies. One   
 single Governance structure (with the Schools having their own Local   
 Governing Body) would be stronger than six individual governance
 structures to face future funding and educational challenges. Following  
 initial consideration and support from the Academy Governing Bodies,   
 legal and staff/parent consultation began in early 2016. It is anticipated   
 that following further consideration and approval from the Academy   
 Governing Bodies and Education Funding Agency that a new structure   
 would be in place by 1 September 2016.

Achievements and Performance 

Schools Information: General 

Set out on pages 15 - 26 are the aims, objectives, activities and 
achievements of the Independent Schools together with a brief overview 
of the other schools. Further detailed information on King Edward VI 
Aston School, King Edward VI Camp Hill School for Boys, King Edward VI 
Five Ways School, King Edward VI Camp Hill School for Girls, King Edward 
VI Handsworth School for Girls and King Edward VI Sheldon Heath can 
be found within their own financial accounts available on their school 
websites.

It can be seen from the information on the following pages that all seven 
schools have strong external links providing educational, performing 
arts and sporting opportunities for many local schools with which they 
collaborate and that the pupils participate in fund raising for various 
charities and they are involved in a number of community service activities.

Governors’ report
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SCHOOLS INFORMATION:
KING EDWARD’S SCHOOL, BIRMINGHAM

Aims of the School

King Edward’s School educates boys between the ages of 11 and 18 and 
in the academic year 2014/2015 the school had, on average, 850 boys in 
it. The school’s aim, stated in all internal and public documentation, is as 
follows:

‘to make available to the widest possible range of able boys 
an educational experience that is the richest, most diverse and 
most exciting possible in an atmosphere that provides support, 
encouragement and care for everyone, pupils and staff, here. We 
want our pupils to love coming here and to go from here prepared 
for all that human life has to offer.’

This aim is aligned with the objects of the Foundation as set out in the 
1900 Act and with the aims of the Foundation as set out in the Mission
Statement on page 3 of the Foundation’s accounts. 

These aims lead the school to key principles of activity:

•	 the	pursuit	of	the	highest	academic	success	and	challenge.
•	 the	provision	of	the	best	possible	pastoral	care	and	support	of	the		 	
 individual.
•	 the	provision	of	the	widest	possible	range	of	activities	and		 	
 opportunities for every pupil.
•	 the	development	of	relationships	within	school	between	pupils	and			
 between pupils and staff and of an understanding of the world   
 beyond school.
•	 a	deep	commitment	to	accessibility	so	that	this	education	and	these		
 opportunities are open to all boys, whatever their family or financial   
 situation.
•	 collaboration	with	the	local	community	in	a	diverse	range	of	projects		
 and activities.
•	 the	provision	of	the	best	possible	facilities	and	resources.
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Objectives

These principles, which have been central to the purpose of the school 
for decades, if not centuries, inform the day-to-day running of the school. 
They also reflect careful consideration of the Charity Commission’s general 
guidance on public benefit and, in particular, its supplementary public 
benefit guidance on advancing education and on fee-charging. The 
school’s objectives are also founded on the twin pillars of ‘Excellence and 
Accessibility’: our purpose is to serve the boys of Birmingham and beyond 
by providing an education of national, if not international, excellence and 
to ensure that all boys of ability and aspiration can share in it.

The school’s major objectives for the year 2014/2015 reflected this purpose:

i) Excellence
•	 The	provision	of	the	highest	quality	curriculum	and	the	best	possible		
 academic outcome. In particular, this involved the continued   
 development of our teaching of the International Baccalaureate   
 Diploma as the fourth cohort of boys completed the course. Some of  
 the key issues involved better organisation of the teaching of the   
 Extended Essay, significant progress with the International   
 Baccalaureate Organisation on the nature of HL Maths, preparation   
 for the 5-year review of the IB Diploma and the appointment of a   
 new appointment of an IB Co-ordinator.
•	 Continued	development	of	support	for	staff	in	a	variety	of	ways,		 	
 induction, training, the creation of a professional development   
 group, an increase in lesson observation, work scrutiny and the   
 sharing of good practice. 
•	 The	school’s	provision	of	academic	and	pastoral	support	was		 	
 substantially enhanced by the creation of the Study Centre in the   
 area previously occupied by the Upper School Common Room. The   
 Study Centre enabled us to bring together Learning Support,   
 Mentoring, a large area for private study and the offices of the Year   
 Heads into one place.
•	 The new Deputy Head (Pastoral) introduced a valuable programme of   
 events related to pupil, welfare, mental health, mindfulness and e-safety.
•	 The	school	introduced,	to	excellent	effect,	Firefly	as	the	IT	platform		 	
 from which all staff and boys operate as a means of communication   
 and sharing information.
•	 The development of the school’s intellectual life with an increase in   
 the number of societies, often run by boys, and the enhanced   
 provision of lectures and events, made possible by the Sir Paul and   
 Lady Ruddock Hall. For example, there was a substantial growth in   
 the school’s participation in the Model United Nations, a major   
 exhibition on World War 1 and an ever-growing number of theatre visits. 

2015 King Edward VI
Aston School

King Edward VI 
Camp Hill School 

for Boys

King Edward VI
Five Ways School

King Edward VI 
Camp Hill School 

for Girls

King Edward 
VI Handsworth 
School for Girls

King Edward’s 
School

King Edward VI 
High School for 

Girls
National 2015

International Baccalaureate

Score - - - - - 39.3 - 29.9*

A Level:

A* Grades % 17.0% 36.3% 18.0% 22.8% 15.0% - 18.2% 8.3%

A* & A Grades % 44.0% 66.3% 49.0% 56.0% 46.8% - 63.6% 25.9%

A* A & B Grades % 73.0% 88.6% 77.0% 83.5% 79.7% - 87.4% 52.7%

GCSE:

A* Grades % 26.0% 63.2% 31.0% 49.5% 41.2% 68.3% 67.5% 6.6%

A* & A Grades % 63.0% 90.7% 64.0% 83.0% 81.4% 88.8% 91.5% 21.2%

*This is the average IB world score. The top score of 45 was achieved by 160 students globally including three from King Edward’s School.

Note: National A level statistics excluding General Studies.

Public examination results of the seven schools at both A level and GCSE were again impressive and are compared in the table below:
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•	 The	School,	with	its	diverse	ethnic	population	paid	particular		 	
 attention to the issues of British values and the threat of   
 radicalisation. In particular, the School has been working closely with  
 the Islamic Society, with Muslim alumni and Muslim parents to   
 ensure that we understand the different communities which we   
 serve. The School’s careers advice continued to develop with the   
 increasing engagement of our alumni as advisers and mentors and   
 through the greater involvement of parents in these events
•	 The new astro hockey pitch and its pavilion, the Stuart Southall   
 Pavilion, was completed in August to provide the best hockey   
 facilities in the area. This project was made possible by the generous   
 support of Mr Stuart Southall, OE, and the Old Edwardians’ Association.
•	 The	strengthening	of	governance	and,	in	particular,	the	scrutiny	of	all		
 issues to do with regulations, safe-guarding, health and safety, risk   
 assessment etc. through the creation of a Risk and Compliance   
 Committee. A Code of conduct was also introduced for all staff. In   
 addition, the governors are now more closely involved with the life of  
 the school through twice-termly meetings with groups of staff on   
 specific issues.
•	 The	strengthening	of	all	aspects	of	management	of	the	school,		 	
 through the appointment of a member of staff responsible for HR   
 and better management of our facilities, not least through greater   
 collaboration with KEHS. An important part of this has been the   
 creation of much improved office space for support staff. 
ii) Accessibility
•	 The school’s provision of Assisted Places continued to grow, not least   
 through the launching of the AP100 Campaign, which aims to raise   
 £10m to fund 100 Assisted Places. By the end of the academic year,   
 the AP100 Campaign had raised £8.5m. The number of applicants for  
 places remains very high: there were 750 candidates for the 11+,   
 twice as many as 10 years ago, from 300 different junior schools. 550   
 boys applied for Assisted Places, a fivefold increase in 8 years. The   
 remarkable expansion of the School’s Outreach programme   
 continued so that in the year the school provided opportunities of   
 great variety for pupils and teachers from 160 different junior schools.  
 The School’s Outreach programme also worked very closely with the  
 Foundation’s Opening Doors programme and the Foundation’s new   
 Director of Access. 
•	 As a result of all this activity, the school achieved national recognition:  
 the Chief Master was named Tatler’s ‘Public School Head of the Year’,   
 the School was named ‘IB School of the Year’ by the Sunday Times’   
 Parent Power and the School’s Outreach programme has been   
 nominated for the TES Independent Schools Award for the Best   
 independent/state school partnership.

Ethos and policies

We have a fundamental belief in the power of education to transform the 
lives of our pupils. The school has the highest possible aspirations for its 
pupils, and this is reflected both in the curriculum and in the emphasis of 
its academic programme. We also believe that a school is a place to learn 
to form relationships and to understand and respect differences. We are 
fortunate in that our school is exceptionally diverse in its ethnicity and in 
that it reflects almost exactly the ethnic mix of the city of Birmingham. 
Another fundamental part of the school’s diversity is that it should be 
open to pupils of ability, regardless of their family situation. We have had 
a long-term commitment to this aim stretching back through the time of 
the Direct Grant system and the government’s Assisted Places scheme.

The School came to present our ethos and purpose under the following 
four headlines, an academic school, an intellectual school, a human 
school and a local/global school:

‘Academic’ must mean that we have the highest academic standards and 
performance, so that we are recognised as the best academic school in 
the West Midlands and a school of national academic reputation. 

‘Intellectual’ must mean that success in public examinations isn’t 
all there is. The exploration of the world beyond simple learning and 
knowing is vital for our boys as the single most important enrichment 
of their lives. Otherwise, we are only physical or material or commercial 
creatures. 

‘Human’ means a lot. It means that our education allows them to 
develop in physical as well as human terms, to be active and serve others 
in a variety of ways, to find some things that make life worth living, to 
form relationships, to understand and respect and care for each other, to 
be ready for the life beyond school and university.

‘Local and global’ means that we emphasise, celebrate and develop the 
single most striking thing about our school.  All of our pupils are local lads 
– ‘not the titled nor the stranger’ as the lost verse of the School Song tells 
us - and yet they probably have the most diverse family backgrounds. So, 
we must want our boys to know their own community and to want to 
serve it, but also be ready to live in this big, wide world.

That is what the School says and a survey of parents, conducted by 
RSAcademics, in the Spring Term of 2013, confirmed that this was 
the perception of the about the school. When asked to choose words 
to describe the School, the six words most commonly chosen were 
‘academic’, ‘inspiring’, ‘diverse’, ‘intellectual’, ‘friendly’, ‘energetic’.   

Review of Activities 
1 - Admissions and Assisted Places at 11+

These figures reflect, once again, the remarkable progress that the school 
has made in extending awareness of the school and its Assisted Place 
provision: for example, the number of pupils applying from state junior 
schools has doubled in seven years and the candidates applied from over 
300 different junior schools. This may be a unique achievement in the 
independent sector.

2 - Assisted Places, the Development Office and the King Edward’s School, 
Birmingham Trust

The total number of pupils in the school in the academic year 2014/2015 
who received a means-tested Assisted Place was 193. Of these, 70 had 
full fee remission and a further 98 received remission in excess of 90%. 
In total, the Foundation and The King Edward’s School Birmingham 
Trust spent £2m on the provision of Assisted Places. The Development 
Office serves the needs of the alumni and engages in major fund-raising 
activities. That office now works in collaboration with KEHS and it has a 
team of six people. The King Edward’s School Birmingham Trust was set 
up as a separate charity to receive donations on behalf of the School. In 
the calendar year 2014 the Trust raised £1.5m and since its inception it 

2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Candidates

Registered for examination 782 822 700 620 549 600 507

Took examination 752 796 678 604 538 578 488

Asked for fee remission 468 561 440 320 249 257 202

Did not ask for fee remission 284 261 238 284 289 343 286

Source of pupils

Birmingham Local Education Authority 394 422 364 284 241 275 222

Birmingham Independent Schools 132 140 114 138 140 142 119

Outside Birmingham LEA 166 188 141 113 104 98 87

Outside Birmingham  Independent Schools 57 69 56 65 51 62 58

Other 3 3 3 3 2 1 2
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has raised £12m of which £9m is for the funding of Assisted Places. By 
September 2015, there were 80 boys in the School funded by alumni 
giving. Assisted Places scheme is advertised as prominently as possible. 
It is a major item on the front page of the website and is always in big 
letters on our advertising. The sliding scale according to which funds are 
distributed can be downloaded from the school’s website and that sliding 
scale is longer than in almost any other independent school to ensure 
that every family, whatever their financial situation, can consider sending 
a boy to this school. 

3 - Academic Results

i) International Baccalaureate Diploma

The School enjoyed outstanding success in the IB Diploma in July 2015, 
with an average points score of 39.3 and over 50% of the boys achieving 
40 points or more. These results made us the best-performing 100% IB 
school in this country and one of the best in the world. The table below 
shows the results for the four years during which the School has done the 
IB Diploma:

ii) GCSE and IGCSE

The School enjoyed outstanding success in public exams in the 
academic year 2014/2015. At GCSE, the percentage of A*s was 68.25% 
(2014 69.4%), the percentage of A*/A’s was 88.8% (2014 91.6%). 32 
boys out of a cohort of 120 scored a full set of 10 A*s and 52 boys 
scored 9 or 10 A*s.

The table below shows the substantial academic progress the school has 

made in the last decade through presenting the three-year average.

iii) University destinations

The boys in the school have enjoyed great success in university entry 
in 2014/2015 with 82% of boys gaining a place at their first-choice 
university.

Set out below are the university destinations of the 2015 leavers and their 
chosen subject

University  Course
Cambridge 9 Medicine 17
Oxford  9 Economics 11
Birmingham 7 History 9
Bath 7 Engineering 8 
Durham 7 Business 7
King’s College, London 7 Modern Languages 6
Warwick  7 Chemistry 5
University College, London 7 Geography 4
Imperial College, London 6 PPE 4
Manchester 6 Mathematics 4
Bristol 4 Classics 3
Leeds 3 Computer Science 3
Liverpool 3 Natural Sciences 3
Nottingham 3 Dentistry 2
Cardiff 2 Liberal Arts 2
York 2 Arts and Science 1
Aston 1 Chinese Studies 1
Bradford 1 Combined Honours 1
East Anglia 1 Drama 1
Edinburgh 1 Electronics 1
Exeter 1 English 1
Heriot-Watt 1 International Relations 1
Lancaster 1 Marine Biology 1
LSE 1 Music 1
Newcastle 1 Optometry 1
Queen Mary’s 1 Philosophy 1
Southampton 1 Politics and History 1
  Product Design 1
USA 1 Theology 1

Re-applying  10

However, academic success comes in a variety of forms, in national 
competitions:

Biology Olympiad: 3 Gold, 1 Silver, 4 Bronze
Chemistry Olympiad: 2 Gold, 4 Silver, 7 Bronze
Physics Olympiad: 2 Silver, 1 Bronze
Physics AS Challenge: 1 Gold, 1 Silver, 4 Bronze I, 3 Bronze II
Physics GCSE Challenge, 2 Gold, 4 Silver, 3 Bronze I
British Maths Olympiad: 4 Distinctions 
Intermediate Maths Olympiad: 2 Distinctions and Gold Medals, 2 
Distinctions [Year 11]
2 Distinctions and Silver Medals, 2 Distinctions [Year 10]
2 Distinctions and Bronze Medals, 2 Merits [Year 9]

Senior Maths Challenge: the school team became national champions for 
the first time.
Junior Maths Challenge: the school came 14th in the national finals out of 
1700 schools. 
Arkwright Scholarships: four scholarships

The Lord Mayor’s Annual Sixth-Form Mega-Quiz: runners-up

In the Schools Challenge – the schools’ version of University Challenge – 
the team came second in the national finals. 

4 - Extra-curricular activities

The school has a rich and extensive range of extra-curricular activities 
and its commitment to the world beyond the classroom is clear in 
setting aside Friday afternoon for non-academic activities such as CCF, 
Leadership, the Personal Service Group, a wide range of Outreach 
activities, music, computer-programming, sport and sports coaching.  

2012 2013 2014 2015

Candidates 112 103 102 104

Points per candidate 36.7 37 36.7 39.3

Average points per subject 5.8 5.9 5.8 6.3

% of HL 7’s 32 30 30 47

% of HL 7’s and 6’s 67 69 74 83

Number of boys with 45 points 3 5 2 3

Number of boys with 44 or 45 points 12 11 5 9

Number of boys with more than 40 points 39 34 29 54

% of boys with 1st choice offer from UCAS 78 75 70 82

2004-2006 2007-2009 2010-2012 2013-2015

A* percentage 42.6 54.3 56.3 68.7

A*/A percentage 81.7 87.1 84.3 90.1

Number of boys with 10 A*s 9.3 20.3 21.3 29.7

Number of boys with 9 or 10 A*s 15.6 28.6 31.0 49.7
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Drama, Music and Public Speaking

Music and drama are immensely popular and successful and are 
performed at the highest level in collaboration with KEHS. The Sir Paul 
and Lady Ruddock Performing Arts Centre provides a wonderful venue 
for music and drama. In 2014/2015 the main theatrical production was 
‘Cabaret’ but there were also other productions, ‘The Dumb Waiter’, ‘The 
Witches’, ‘We Will Rock You’, the introduction of Minor and Junior House 
Drama, evenings of drama for Years 7 and 10 and exam performances 
both for GCSE and IB.

The scale of musical activity is truly remarkable, perhaps unmatched 
by any day school in this country, So, there were in the course of the 
year, eleven major concerts, three Christmas Concerts in the Ruddock 
Hall, a Carol Service in Birmingham Cathedral, two choral and orchestral 
concerts in March, a charity concert in March, two summer concerts in 
April, a recital in the Barber Institute of the University of Birmingham, 
and a jazz concert with an alumnus pianist. There are, in addition, two 
house music competitions, 8 Lunchtime recitals for the most able players, 
four Performers’ Platforms and eight musical evenings to encourage 
participation. In the big concerts, over 250 boys perform, with an 
orchestra of 90, a choir of 150 and orchestras and bands for younger 
musicians. These various musical groups also go out to junior schools to 
perform as part of the Outreach programme.

One boy was selected for the National Youth Orchestra and three for the 
National Children’s Orchestra.

Two boys reached the regional final of the English Speaking Union 
Schools’ Mace Competition and the school team won the Birmingham 
Cup in the English Speaking Union Public Speaking Competition.

One boy won a national competition in reading the Quran and was 
placed 11th in an international competition held in Dubai in which 150 
countries were represented.

Sport

The school provides the opportunity to play 18 different sports, ranging 
from archery to water polo and there are great opportunities for a 
very large number of boys to represent the school in team sports: in 
2014/2015, there were 200 matches for 16 teams in rugby, 200 matches 
for 16 teams in hockey and 150 matches for 12 teams in cricket. The 
highlights of the year were:

•	 Badminton:	The	Under	16	team	were	Birmingham	champions	and		 	
 were runners-up in the West Midlands Regional Finals.The Under 14   
 team were Birmingham champions and were 4th in the West   
 Midlands Regional Finals.
•	 Chess:	The	1st	team	reached	the	quarter-finals	of	the	National		 	
 Schools Competition. The 1st, 2nd and 3rd teams were winners of   
 their respective Birmingham District Junior Chess leagues.
•	 Cricket: The Under 13 team reached the national finals for the first   
 time and were beaten by Millfield Junior School. The Under 14A,   
 Under 14B and Under 12A teams were semi-finalists in the Warwickshire  
 Schools Association cups. 3 boys were chosen to represent   
 Worcestershire and 2 were chosen to represent Warwickshire. The 1st XI   
 was chosen by the XL Club as the school team which provided the most   
 enjoyable match and the award was made to the captain and the Master  
 in Charge of Cricket in the Long Room at Lord’s. 
•	 Hockey: The 1st XI, 2nd and 3rd XI were all champions in the   
 Warwickshire Championships. The Under 16 XI were county   
 champions, Midlands runners-up and national finalists – for the first   
 time ever. The Under 14XI were Warwickshire League Champions. The   
 Under 13 XI were county runners-up and Midlands finalists. One boy   
 was selected for England Under 18 and 11 boys were selected for their  
 region. 
•	 Rugby:	The	Under	16	XV	won	the	North	Midlands	Plate.	The	Under	13		
 VII won the Warwick School Plate. 5 boys are members of the   

 Worcester Warriors Academy. 2 boys were selected for the Under 13   
 Public School Lambs.
•	 Scuba	Diving:	5	boys	qualified	as	Advanced	Open	Water	Divers.
•	 Squash:	2	boys	represented	Warwickshire.
•	 Tennis:	The	School	Under	15	team	reached	the	last	16	in	the	national		
 competition. A boy is ranked 5th in his age-group in the country and  
 won the Magdalen College School Under 15 tournament for the   
 second time.
•	 Water	polo:	The	Under	18	team	were	runners	up	in	the	national	finals.		
 The Under 16 team came 3rd in the national finals. The Under 13   
 team were semi-finalists in the national finals. One boy is in the 1997  
 national squad for the European Championships in 2016 and two   
 more are in the 1999 England Talent Programme. 

Societies

The school also has an exceptionally wide range of different clubs and 
societies which take place throughout the school week and year. These 
include Agora, Amnesty Society, Art Society, Classical Society, Debating, 
Geographical Society, History Society, Living History, Mathematical Society, 
Medical Society, Mentoring, Model United Nations, Parliamentary Society, 
Scientific Society, Warhammer Society. The school’s fund-raising is organised 
through the Cot Fund and in 2014/2015 it raised over £15,000 for nine 
different charities, local, national and international. Once again, there was 
also a major fund-raising activity for Birmingham Children’s Hospital.

Trips and expeditions

The School organises a very extensive programme or trips of differing 
scale, duration and cost, being fully aware that such activities do need to 
be open to all boys. So, the vast majority of the school’s trips take place 
in this country on weekends and these involve CCF expeditions, walking, 
climbing, caving, kayaking, abseiling and bird-watching. Also, there are 
residential trips for all boys in Years 7 and 8 and several boys completed the 
Duke of Edinburgh Gold Award. However, there were also more significant 
overseas trips: language exchanges to France (Grasse), Spain (Mallorca) and 
Germany (Dorsten); a trip to the World War 1 Battlefields in France and to 
Lapland, an art trip to Belgium, caving in France, diving in Malta, skiing in 
Austria, cycling in Holland, the completion of the cycle ride from Land’s End 
to John O’Groats, a rugby tour to Canada, a visit to CERN.  

Links with the Community 

Facilities

The School has a wide variety of different links with the community. It 
works with major institutions in Birmingham and beyond, including 
the University of Birmingham, the Birmingham and West Midlands, the 
Asian Business Chamber of Commerce, Warwickshire County Cricket 
Club. The School makes its facilities available, often at no or low cost, to 
a range of organisations: for example, Warwickshire County Cricket Club 
played over 20 matches here during the year and also uses the School’s 
indoor facilities; Edgbaston Hockey Club uses the school’s new astro 
pitch for senior and junior games; the Sainsbury’s School Games took 
place at the School and at KEHS over two days with over one thousand 
participants; the school swimming pool and Sports Hall  and the Ruddock 
Performing Arts Centre are all frequently used by a wide range of outside 
organisations: for example, City of Birmingham Symphony Orchestra and 
Choir rehearse in the School. The World War 1 Exhibition was also opened 
to the public and was visited by a number of organisations, including the 
Lunar Society.

Outreach

However, the single most significant element of such links lies in the 
school’s Outreach programme which continued to grow in 2014/2015. The 
purpose of that Outreach programme is to form strong links with junior 
schools and junior school teachers and thereby to offer junior schools
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activities and opportunities that they could not themselves to provide, 
to raise the aspirations of the pupils in junior schools and to make them 
believe that education at a school like King Edward’s is within their 
compass. 

In 2014/2015, 10,000 children and 450 teachers from 140 different junior 
schools came into contact with activities from the school, a scale of 
activity that few, if any, in the independent sector could match. Some of 
those activities take place on the school site, others involve the School’s 
staff and pupils going out to state junior schools, some of them are 
regular events, others are one-off, an author visit or the chance for junior 
school pupils to watch a concert or a play. The Director of Outreach and 
two other members of staff have timetable allowance for these activities 
but over 40 members of staff have taken on these roles voluntarily. Over 
250 pupils from the School have also been involved.

The major developments in the programme in 2014/2015 were:
 
•	 The	launch	of	the	‘Borcherds	Shield’	Maths	competition,	offering		
 competitive Maths (and a lot of fun!) to junior school children  
 across the city. Over 90 schools have entered, and we have crowned  
 Birmingham’s top mathematicians in Year 4 and Year 6. The Year 4  
 competition culminated in the ‘Festival of Maths’ with Kjartan Poskitt.
•	 The establishment of the inaugural KES summer school for 95 children  
 from deprived backgrounds across Birmingham. The establishment  
 of a properly organised sports Outreach programme, offering free  
 coaching in netball, rugby, hockey, cricket and/or athletics to junior  
 school children across the city, twice per week.
•	 The Inauguration of training days for junior school teachers in Maths,  
 Shakespeare (with the Shakespeare Birthplace Trust), Science (with  
 the Ogden Trust) and sport and the continuation of training in Reading  
 and Writing. The establishment of a partnership to offer nature  
 education to junior schools with Winterbourne Botanical Gardens.
•	 The	continuation	of	Living	History,	drama,	chess	competitions,		
 debating workshops, tours by the school’s musical groups.

Future Plans

The School will continue its pursuit of its aims of excellence and 
accessibility in the coming year. In April 2015, the Chief Master, John 
Claughton announced his intention to retire in July 2016 and his successor, 
Dr Mark Fenton, was appointed to replace him.  In particular, its plans for 
2015/2016 include:

•	 Continued	development	of	the	quality	of	our	teaching	of	the	pupils,			
 in particular with the appointment of a new IB Co-ordinator.
•	 Continued	focus	on	issues	to	do	with	compliance,	safe-guarding,		 	
 health and safety, including the implementation of a code of conduct  
 for staff.  
•	 Continued	development	of	support	for	pupils	and	staff	in	relation	to		
 mental welfare, the management of the demands on them.
•	 The	development	of	sport	with	appointment	of	a	new	Director	of		 	
 Rugby and a full-time cricket professional and of drama with the   
 appointment of a full-time teacher of Drama and the increased   
 provision for Drama in the curriculum.
•	 Continued	engagement	with	the	key	elements	in	the	local		 	
 community and, in particular, close attention to the issue of actively   
 promoting British values in such a diverse school and community.
•	 Development	of	links	with	BD	Somani	School,	an	IB	school	in		 	
 Mumbai, through teacher and pupil exchange.
•	 Planning	for	the	next	and	final	phase	of	the	school’s	building		 	
 programme, the provision of better indoor sports and changing   
 facilities.
•	 Completion	of	the	AP100	Campaign
•	 Further	development	of	the	School’s	Outreach	programme	in		 	
 collaboration with the Foundation.

•	 The	development	of	the	World	War	1	Exhibition	to	commemorate	the		
 events of 1916 and the production of a new film on the subject of the  
 Battle of Somme.
•	 The	construction	of	a	crossing	over	the	Bristol	Road	to	increase	the		 	
 safety of our pupils.

SCHOOLS INFORMATION: KING EDWARD VI
HIGH SCHOOL FOR GIRLS

King Edward VI High School for Girls educates girls between the ages of 
11 and 18, and in 2014/15 enrolled 572 pupils. 

Aims
The School aims:
•	 to	offer	girls	a	distinctive,	academic	education	in	a	friendly,	nurturing		
 environment
•	 to	help	girls	to	achieve	academic	success,	inspiring	a	love	of	learning		
 for its own sake 
•	 to	give	girls	the	confidence	to	aim	high	and	pursue	their	ambitions
•	 to	encourage	girls	to	achieve	a	productive	and	healthy	work	/	life		 	
 balance
•	 to	develop	independent,	resilient	young	women
•	 to	encourage	girls	to	broaden	their	horizons	and	to	think	nationally		 	
 and globally 
•	 to	be	accessible	to	able	girls	from	all	backgrounds	
•	 to	encourage	respect	for	others	and	a	sense	of	collective		 	
 responsibility
•	 to	provide	a	wide	range	of	extra-curricular	activities	

Objectives

The school’s ‘Strategic Intent’, drawn up in 2011 as a 5 year action plan is 
now drawing to a close. It outlined key areas of focus for the school under 
the overarching theme of ‘inspiring excellence’ as outlined below:

(i) Inspiring Excellence in the ‘intellectual life of the future’

	 •	 considering	ways	in	which	we	can	encourage	more	intellectual		 	
  confidence, risk taking and individual curiosity in the girls
	 •	 developing	a	science	strategy	that	will	inspire	girls	to	pursue		 	
  careers in science that are not restricted to the vocational   
  medical area

(ii) Inspiring Excellence in the ‘women of the future’

	 •	 supporting	the	girls	in	a	balanced	self-appraisal	and	in	being		 	
  willing to ‘have a go’
	 •	 ensuring	they	have	opportunities	to	consider	gender	issues,	to		 	
  debate formally and informally, to undertake more public   
  speaking and to reflect on their own development with a   
  significant adult

(iii) Inspiring Excellence in ‘communications for the future’

	 •	 taking	more	advantage	of	technology	by	improving	our		 	
  hardware, software and technical expertise in a cost efficient   
  way

(iv) Inspiring Excellence in ‘building for the future’

	 •	 upgrading	existing	facilities,	create	more	office	space	and		 	
  improve IT provision
	 •	 aiming	for	a	sustainable	future	in	terms	of	environmentally		 	
  friendly buildings, strategies and a whole school ethos of   
  sustainability
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(v) Inspiring Excellence in ‘the profession of the future’

	 •	 Contributing	to	the	development	of	the	teaching	profession		 	
  both for our own teaching and non-teaching staff and also for   
  the wider educational community

Objectives have been set under each heading for this, the final year of the 
Strategic Intent, and are summarised below: 

Ethos and policies

We aim to create a positive learning environment, where girls are 
encouraged to work hard, to fulfil their potential and to develop a 
range of skills to prepare them for the challenges of the future in higher 
education and the working world. Excellent relationships between staff 
and girls and between girls themselves are important to us in creating 
a safe and happy environment in which girls can thrive. We also seek to 
establish and maintain excellent relationships with parents as we work 
together to support their girls in every aspect of school life.  

Diversity is recognised and celebrated in all its forms; we want to promote 
an atmosphere where all members of the school community are valued 
and shown respect, consideration and an appreciation of others as 
individuals, regardless of race, gender, religion or disability. Social and 
moral issues are discussed with girls in many contexts and the importance 
of individual responsibility is stressed. Girls are encouraged to think 
beyond the confines of their own families and social context, to be aware 
of national and global issues and think about service to others. Charity 
events and fundraising are key parts of the school calendar and all sixth 
formers are involved in community service. 

Review of Activities 
   
1 - Admissions

The increase in the overall number of applications held up for the 2015 
intake, whilst the number requiring assisted places increased.

Applications

2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Registered for examination 493 502 369 382 336 339 355
Took examination 471 480 362 368 328 323 342
Asked for fee remission 333 302 228 234 200 174 155
Did not ask for fee remission 159 200 141 148 136 165 200

Number of candidates from types 
of schools

Birmingham LEA schools  328 360 243 229 171 189              196
Birmingham Independent    95 108  94 121 127 115  121
LEA schools from outside Birmingham    38  23  15  13  18 15   16
Independent schools outside Birmingham    30    9  14  16  18  19   20
Abroad     1 -   1   3  1 - 2
Home Educated 1     2    

In addition to pupils applying for Years 7 and 12, some families apply 
for their daughters in the middle of a key stage, largely as a result of a 
re-location. Last year 8 girls applied to join the school and we took 3, one 
each in Years 10, 9 and 8. Two girls joined the Thirds last year after the start 
of the academic year –one in December and one in January. Both girls 
had been offered places initially but declined them.
Other girls took examinations for post 16 entry; we made 17 offers, 12 
accepted and 9 enrolled.

2 - Assisted Places

Means - tested assisted Places were awarded to 121 pupils in 2014/15 at 
a cost of £1,188,320.  Full fee assistance was received by 44 pupils and a 
further 16 pupils received assistance in excess of 90% of the school fees. 
The cost of the assistance to these pupils was £673,495 representing 56% 
of all assistance provided. 

The school is committed to offering places to able girls regardless of their 
parental background. The school advertises the availability of Assisted 
Places through its website, through information sent to every primary 
school in the Birmingham area, through a direct mailing to girls who have 
registered for the grammar school examinations, by advertising in the 
press and theatre programmes, through its prospectus, at open occasions 
and through the very successful Outreach programme.  

Our Outreach programme comprises a range of activities. Friday 
afternoon sessions are offered to 55 pupils from 7 different schools in a 
range of subjects including English, history, maths, science and Spanish. 
The Physics Roadshow is offered to 100 pupils in school and to 800 pupils 
across the East and West Midlands. Lessons in Greek and Latin were 
delivered in 2014/15 to primary pupils in Year 4 by a member of staff.   In 
2014/15, we also offered 2 maths Challenge Days, the Physics Explorer 
Dome and a further Challenge day including activities in Geography, 
history and science.   In addition, we hosted a Shakespeare festival which 
attracted 60 pupils. Our new Head of maths continues to offer ‘Magic 
in maths’ workshops to all staff and pupils in primary schools. All these 
events help to familiarise pupils with the school and encourage them 
to consider applying for Assisted Places here.  Our Head of maths also 
runs weekly 2 hour maths master classes to able mathematicians across 
the city, which are also attended by trainee teachers from Birmingham 
University.

3 - Achievements

The school was delighted with the academic success of girls in 2014/15; 
we achieved our best results for over a decade at GCSE; 68% of girls 
achieved A*, 92% of girls achieved A*/A grades, 15 girls achieved all A* 
and 60 girls achieved all A*/A.

At A level 64% girls achieved A*/A grades and 87% were awarded A*-B 
grades. Most girls achieved the grades required to go to their first choice 
university. The tables below show the high proportion of girls achieving 
places at Russell Group universities and equally importantly the vast array 
of degree choices selected demonstrating that girls are independent 
thinkers, keen to pursue their own individual interests. Against a 
backdrop of very small numbers of women opting for courses in STEM 
subjects, it is pleasing to note that 28 girls out of 76 are going on to study 
science subjects at university. A number of girls are applying for courses 
post A level; 1 to Oxford, 1 to Cambridge, 2 have changed their minds and 
are applying for medicine, 2 girls are re-sitting one of their A level subjects 
and re-applying for competitive courses in dentistry.
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University Destinations  Upper Sixth Courses
1 Aston 1 Architecture
5  Birmingham 1 Arts and Social Sciences
1 Birmingham City 2 Biomedical Science
2 Brighton 1 Bioveterinary Science
4 Bristol 2 Business Management
1 Brunel 1 Business Studies and French
2  Cambridge 1 Chemical Engineering
5 Cardiff 1 Chemistry with molecular physics
1  Durham 1  Classics and French
2  Edinburgh 1 Diagnostic radiotherapy
2 Exeter 1 Ecological and Environmental Sciences
1 Hartpury College 2 Economics
1 ICL 2 Engineering
3 KCL 2 English
3 Leeds 1 English and Spanish
3  Liverpool 2  English Literature 
5 Manchester 1 European Studies and MFL
3 Nottingham 1 French and Latin
2 Oxford 1 Geography
1 Reading 1 German and Russian
1 Sheffield 3 History
1 Southampton 1 History, Theology and Religious Studies
1 St Andrew’s 1 International business
6 UCL 2 Law
2 Warwick 2 Mathematics
  1 Mechanical engineering
  10 Medicine
  2 Modern Languages 
  2 Natural Sciences
  2 Neuroscience
  1 Pharmacy
  1 Philosophy
  1 Philosophy with religion
  1 Psychology
  1 Speech and Language Therapy
  1 Veterinary Science

Academic success is also recognised in an amazing range of awards and 
prizes won by girls. These include the Arts and Minds Creative Writing 
Prize, the Anne Frank Poetry Award, a ‘Young Geographer of the Year’.

A girl in the Upper 5th was awarded a prestigious Arkwright Engineering 
Scholarship and a sixth form girl won a prestigious National Network 
Rail competition about the future of IT (‘Could IT Be You?’) against 
strong opposition; the prize included the first year’s university fees, 
work experience and the provision of a mentor. A girl in the Lower 
6th achieved a Roentgenium award in the Cambridge Chemistry 
Challenge, Four girls in the Lower 5th were awarded certificates from the 
Royal Astronomical Society for being in the top 12 highest performing 
students in the country in their GCSE Astronomy examinations. One girl 
in the Upper 6th was long listed for the Christopher Tower Poetry Prize 
run by Christ Church College, Oxford, another was shortlisted for the role 
of Birmingham Young Poet Laureate and another sixth former achieved 
a ‘Best Delegate’ Award in the Model United Nations conference.   Three 
girls in the Thirds won the National Thank You! Film Awards for their film,’ 
The Suffragettes’. 

In the Senior Maths Challenge: girls achieved 1 gold, 12 silver and 20 
bronze awards. One girl was selected for the Senior Kangaroo. In the 
Intermediate Maths Challenge: 12 gold awards, 31 silver awards and 31 
bronze awards. Seven girls were selected for the Junior Maths Olympiad. 
Seven girls were selected for the Intermediate Kangaroo and one girl 
was selected for Intermediate Olympiad. In the Junior Maths Challenge: 
32 gold awards, 50 silver awards and 35 bronze awards. Four girls were 
selected for the Junior Maths Olympiad.

Girls entered and achieved awards in the Olympiads in all three sciences: 

•	 Physics:	1	silver	award,	1	bronze	award	and	1	commendation.
•		 Chemistry:		1	gold	award,	3	silver	awards	and	7	bronze	awards.
•		 Biology:		1	silver	award,	1	bronze	award	and	1	commendation.

Four girls in the Lower 6th were awarded their Gold Crest certificates for 
the work they undertook as part of the Engineering Education Scheme 
and eight girls were awarded gold and silver medals at the HiSPARC 
student conference at Birmingham University.

4 - New Developments in 2014/2015

•	 Two	new	Vice	Principals	were	appointed;	Martin	Lea,	Vice	Principal		 	
 (Assessment), took up his post in January 2015 and Neelam Varma   
 Vice Principal (Pastoral), joined the school in September 2015
•	 An	assistant	bursar,	a	development	manager	and	an	assistant		 	
 facilities manager were appointed across both schools and a new PA  
 for the Principal
•	 A	number	of	staff	retired	or	left	the	school	for	promotion;	some	staff			
 were promoted internally to fill their posts and others were   
 appointed from outside including 2 NQTs (newly qualified   
 teachers) and 1 teacher who is undergoing training with the   
 University of Buckingham 
•	 Parent,	staff	and	pupil	surveys	were	carried	out	in	the	Spring	term;		 	
 feedback was used to inform future planning
•	 Substantial	improvements	were	made	to	the	fabric	of	the	building,		 	
 including:-
	 u		significant investment in the toilets (33 toilets were replaced)
 u		continued restoration of the parquet floor in corridors
 u		the refurbishment of the staff ‘Common room’
 u		the refurbishment of one of the ICT suites
 u		the refurbishment of the main music room
 u		the creation of a ‘seminar room’ offering a flexible teaching  
  and learning space with access to notebooks and wireless  
  technology 
 u		the creation of a new office ‘hub’ for members of the   
  Leadership team, the assistant bursar and registrar along   
  with a new office for the development team and for the Vice  
  Principal (Assessment)
 u		the creation of new meeting rooms for staff, girls and parents
•	 The	support	offered	by	the	school-based	counsellor	was	increased		 	
 and a second school-based counsellor appointed to add capacity

•	 Mindfulness	was	introduced	to	support	girls	and	to	provide	a	means		
 for coping with stress. A programme was piloted with Year 8 girls   
 during tutor time and 2 training days offered to Year 9 girls 
•	 2	members	of	staff	were	trained	as	B	practitioners
•	 Hardware	for	IT	has	been	improved;	the	latest	equipment	has		 	
 been purchased for the hard-wired IT room and an Apple suite   
 has been purchased for the music room to give girls experience of   
 industry standard equipment 
•	 New	style	interim	reports	were	introduced	following	feedback	from			
 parents
•	 A	newsletter	was	introduced	for	PE	to	advertise	the	many		 	
 opportunities available for girls to take part in sport and to celebrate  
 the success of a number of very successful individuals. 
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5 - Extra-curricular activities

The school is committed to offering girls a rounded education and giving 
them access to opportunities outside the classroom.  Extra-curricular 
activities are valued and enjoyed by girls and staff; there are well over 
70 activities available, offering an enormous amount of breadth and 
ensuring that there is something for each pupil at the school. The 
provision is regularly reviewed and updated and girls both suggest and 
establish clubs of their own. Whilst sport, music, dance and drama clubs 
are very prominent, other clubs include Junior Classics Club, Chess Club, 
Camera Club, Gardening Club and Living History. 
The chess club was formed in the academic year 2014/15 and girls have 
performed extremely well in national chess competitions; one girl won 
the U12 Chess Mega finals and another girl won the U14 section. We had 
chess supremas at every age group - under 12,13,14 and 15.

Dance:  The annual dance production, which takes place annually 
in March in the Performing Arts Centre, is a highlight of the year and 
involved 164 girls in 2015. Organised by the sixth form dance committee, 
offering leadership opportunities for them, it is a community event 
enabling girls across all year groups to participate. 

Drama:  The quality of the drama productions performed by joint casts 
of KEHS and KES is truly outstanding. A Junior production (The Witches) 
and a Senior production (Cabaret) took place over the autumn and 
winter terms respectively. Given the breadth of talent in the school, 
further opportunities were made available for younger students to 
perform on stage; there were evenings of performances for lower school 
pupils including a Year 7 Evening of Drama in February (a selection of 
scenes, sketches, monologues). In April we staged the Middle School 
Evening of Theatre and featured performances by the L4th, L5th and 
U5th members of Drama Club who presented a selection of thought 
provoking monologues, duologues and the fascinating one act play ‘What 
are they like’. We started rehearsals for the Shakespeare Schools’ Festival 
performance of ‘King Lear’ with members of the U4th.

Middle school groups performed a variety of programmes including an 
Evening of Theatre – with scenes, sketches, short plays performed by the 
U4th & L5th.  The L5th & U5th girls staged two very modern pieces of 
Applied Theatre: ‘The Mobile Phone Show’ by Jim Cartwright and ‘Girls 
Like That’ by Evan Placey. Both plays examined the effects of the digital 
revolution on teenagers today. In March we hosted our first ever after 
show discussion and members of the audience were invited to ask the 
performers questions and explore both pieces in more depth. 

Sixth form drama students performed their own devised pieces; the 
Upper Sixth looked at mental health issues for women performing 
‘Adult Child, Dead Child’ in September and ‘The Best Version of Myself’ 
in December. In May, the AS Theatre Studies students performed 
‘After Midnight, Before Dawn’ and there was a new Remembrance Day 
Performance by the Senior Dramatic Society on November 11th. The sixth 
form ‘Syndicate Play’ (We will Rock you) post examinations, which was 
acted and directed by pupils from the two independent schools at the 
end of term was enjoyable for both cast and audience.

Music: Music is extremely popular in the school and we are fortunate to 
have huge numbers of exceptional musicians.  A number of successful 
concerts were held including three Christmas Concerts showcasing the 
talents of all the orchestral and choral groups at KEHS and KES. The KES/
KEHS Symphony Orchestra has recently played the following works which 
give an indication of the standard of the music-making in this school: 
Adams’ The Chairman Dances, Ives’ The Unanswered Question, Brahms’ 
Hungarian Dance No.1, Bartok’s Hungarian Sketches, Brahms’ Academic 
Festival Overture.

Lunchtime Recitals and evening ‘Performance Platforms’ throughout the 
year have offered regular opportunities to advanced musicians from both 
schools to perform. A number of girls play with national groups; 1 pupil 
plays with the National Youth Orchestra of Great Britain, 3 sing with the 

National Children’s Choir, 6 play with the National Children’s Orchestra 
National Schools’ Symphony Orchestra (one of whom leads the 2nd 
violins), and we also have girls involved in the CBSO Youth Orchestra.

Girls were successful in a range of competitions:
•	 May	2015	2	pupils	participated	in	the	Northfield	festival	and	won		 	
 the  “Bowed instrument and piano for 12 and over” class, where they   
 played a Beethoven sonata for violin and piano.
•	 May	2015	one	girl	won	the	“Vocal	Class	for	15-17	years	olds”	at	the		 	
 Northfield Festival.
•	 May	2015	–	One	girl	won	and	another	was	placed	joint	third	in	the		 	
 Emanuel Piano Trophy competition in North London (one of the   
 most prestigious competitions within the festival movement:   
 it is open to winners of the top senior piano award at any   
 Music Festival during the previous year). There were 21 participants. 
•	 March	2015	–	One	of	our	girls	won	third	prize	in	Junior		 	
 Intercollegiate Piano Competition held by the Beethoven Piano   
 Society of Europe. She was the youngest competitor and   
 represented the Birmingham Conservatoire playing the   
 complete work of Beethoven Sonata No 21 Op 53 “Waldstein”   
 and a compulsory Bagatelle, for 4 adjudicators.
•	 March	2015	–	One	pupil	won	first	prize	of	the	2015	national	final	of		 	
 the EPTA UK piano competition 15 and under category.
•	 March	2015	-	Dudley	Festival	–	4	girls	all	won	their	classes	and	one	of		
 them also won the ‘Mantle Childe Trophy’.
•	 Spring	2015	-–	A	sixth	form	pupil	won	first	prize	in	the	Chandos		 	
 Young Musician Competition and the Eleanor Lloyd Shield.
•	 2015	–	One	girl	won	the	‘Open	Russian	Class’	at	the	Birmingham		 	
 Music Festival whilst another won the ‘Open Recital Class’ at   
 the Festival

Sport: The school provides the opportunity for girls to play a variety of 
sports and to represent the school; in the autumn and spring term we 
have 13 sports on offer. All clubs are open to any ability girl at lunch times 
with after school clubs for those who want to represent the school. As a 
school we want to promote a healthy lifestyle and we therefore also want 
to encourage girls to take part in sport for pleasure.  For those girls who 
want to exercise, there is recreational badminton, Zumba, swimming and 
the use of the fitness suite for Year 10s and above. 

We have a number of outstanding sportswomen, many of whom play at 
county and some at national level. One girl (who trains with her coach at 
school) continues to have success at a national level in fencing; she won the 
Public Schools’ Fencing Championship for the sabre section and was selected 
to represent the UK in the under 17 squad to compete in the European games 
in South Africa in the summer of 2015, bringing home bronze.

Our hockey and netball teams at all age groups regularly win local, 
regional and national competitions; in the academic year 2014/15, for 
example: 

•	 The	U13	Hockey	team	were	crowned	County	Champions.
•	 The	U12	Netball	team	were	crowned	County	Champions.
•	 U15	netball	and	hockey	teams	both	won	their	county	tournaments.		
•	 Five	girls	in	Upper	4th	and	Lower	5th	are	selected	to	join	the	regional		
 hockey squad
•	 A	team	consisting	of	five	girls	from	the	Thirds,	Lower	4th	and		 	
 Upper 4th won the Birmingham Winter School Games Badminton   
 competition.

•	 The	U14	Badminton	team	won	the	Birmingham	School	Games		 	
 Competition.
•	 The	Under	16	Rowing	Team	was	placed	first	in	the	year	11	relay	at		 	
 the  Birmingham School Games.
•	 One	girl	in	the	Upper	5th	won	a	bronze	medal	at	the	Junior		 	
 International Regatta.
•	 The	KEHS	swimming	team	won	the	Minchin	Cup.
•	 One	girl	in	Lower	4th	was	awarded	the	overall	individual	gold	medal		
 at the West Midlands Schools Floor and Vault Championships.
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•	 One	girl	in	the	Lower	5th	was	selected	for	the	Under	18	Midland		 	
 Water Polo team.

Duke of Edinburgh Awards Scheme: This scheme is extremely popular 
in school and in 2014/15, 31 girls achieved Bronze awards, 13 Silver and 
14 Gold.

Trips / Educational visits: The school has encouraged departments to 
organise educational visits to contextualise pupils’ learning. There have 
been Geography, History, RS, Classics, Art, Biology, Chemistry, Physics, 
English, Italian, Spanish, French, PE and Economics subject related visits 
(both residential and non-residential) within the UK and overseas.  

Whole year group residentials took place for girls in the Thirds (an 
outward bound / activity trip to build confidence to the Pioneer Centre 
in Shropshire) and L4th pupils.  Exchange partnerships continued with 
Canada and New Zealand.  

There was a World Challenge trip to Borneo this summer, an Italian and 
Spanish Exchange, a study trip to France, a netball trip to Paris, and a 
continuation of visits under the aegis of a Comenius funded project 
working with other European schools. 

Links with the Community

The school remains committed to supporting others in the local 
community and abroad and in the last academic year has raised over 
£10,000 for local and national charities. Selected highlights are listed below:  

•	 Our	‘Salsa	Evening’	raised	over	£700	for	LAFF	(Latin	American		 	
 Foundation for the Future).
•	 The	KEHS	v	KES	staff	charity	football	match	raised	£325	for	the	British		
 Legion.
•	 Girls	in	the	Sixth	Form	who	participated	in	the	Beanstalk	Challenge		 	
 raised £2834 for the Beanstalk Charity.
•	 In	March,	we	celebrated	World	Book	Day	and	raised	over	£500.
•	 The	school	raised	over	£180	in	aid	of	Breast	Cancer	Care	and		 	
 Meningitis Now.

One girl in the Upper 6th was named ‘Student Volunteer of the Year’, 
having worked as a volunteer at the Thinktank Museum in  Birmingham 
city centre for over two years.

Future Plans

Objectives have been set under each heading for this, the final year of 
the Strategic Intent, and are summarised below: 

The Intellectual Life of the Future

•	 Continue	to	prepare	for	A	level	changes	(phase	2)		
•	 Review	the	role	of	AS	levels	and	the	number	of	A	level	subjects		 	
 studied by girls
•	 Review	the	impact	of	timetabled	lessons	on	Oxbridge	success
•	 Implement	changes	to	the	General	Studies	programme.	Review		 	
 uptake of EPQ and Critical Thinking options
•	 Continue	the	curriculum	review	(KS3&4)	with	a	view	to		 	
 implementing changes in September 2016
•	 Prepare	for	GCSE	changes
•	 Increase	participation	in	Level	2	and	Level	3	projects
•	 Continue	to	review	study	skills/learning	support	provision
 
Women of the Future

•	 Organise	a	whole	staff	and	parent	training	session	on	mental	health			
 and young people 
•	 Review	and	monitor	the	involvement	of	girls	in	lunchtime		 	
 mindfulness sessions
•	 Review	impact	of	U4th	resilience	module

•	 Monitor	the	homework	patterns	of	girls;	introduce	homework	free		 	
 ‘catch up’ weeks for the lower school
•	 Continue	to	focus	on	the	holistic	approach	to	education	so	intrinsic		 	
 to KEHS
•	 Develop	further	extra-curricular	links	with	KES
•	 Monitor	the	effectiveness	and	impact	of	the	new	‘Trips	and	Visits’		 	
 policy
•	 Review	provision	for	Careers	Education
•	 Enhance	links	with	former	pupils	to	offer	insights	into	HE	and		 	
 employment 

Communications for the Future

•	 Monitor	and	review	the	impact	of	the	Development	Office
•	 Review	and	update	the	design	of	the	school	website
•	 Continueto	research	‘Bring	your	own	Device’	initiatives
•	 Continue	to	ensure	ICT	provision	is	future	proofed	and	staff	fully		 	
 supported in terms of ICT needs 
•	 Review	Printing	facilities	
•	 Continue	to	improve	the	reporting/tracking	system;	improve		 	
 intervention with girls who are struggling and ensure early   
 communication with parents

Building for the Future

•	 Install	new	electronic	glass	doors	at	the	entrance	to	the	school,		 	
 operated by a card system
•	 Complete	refurbishment	of	the	parquet	flooring	to	replace	worn		 	
 carpet on the first floor
•	 Continued	upgrading	of	classrooms	as	part	of	a	rolling	programme	
•	 Upgrading	of	Sixth	Form	locker	rooms
•	 Replacement	of	windows	as	part	of	a	rolling	programme	
•	 Updates	to	the	fire	alarm	system
•	 Refurbishment	of	the	music	studio	to	create	a	pleasant	flexible		 	
 teaching / rehearsal space 
•	 Refurbishment	of	the	lecture	theatre
•	 Embark	on	a	programme	of	upgrading	physics	teaching	space		 	
 and storage

The Profession of the Future

•	 Continue	to	develop	our	successful	Outreach	Programme,	exploring		 	
 joint ventures with KES 
•	 Roll	out	our	leadership	development	programme	to	schools	in	our		 	
 teaching school alliance
•	 Share	our	CPD	programme	for	2015-2016	with	our	teaching	school		 	
 partners 
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SCHOOLS INFORMATION: ACADEMIES

KING EDWARD VI ASTON SCHOOL (GRAMMAR SCHOOL) 

King Edward VI Aston School is a selective, inner city school for boys 
situated in one of the most disadvantaged wards in Birmingham. It 
currently admits 120 students into Year 7 each September and has 
a sixth form of 245 including 30-40 students who join from other 
schools at the start of Year 12. The school is genuinely multi-ethnic 
with significant numbers of students from white, Indian, Pakistani, 
Bangladeshi & Black backgrounds. For 45% of the students English 
is not their first language. 40% of students in Year 7 receive support 
from the school to alleviate the impact of social disadvantage and 
this level is expected to continue in future years. Just under 10% of 
students receive support for a special educational need. The School’s 
Sports Partnership is now well-established with a membership of 
twenty local primary schools from September 2015.

At A-Level the results achieved in 2015 were a significant 
improvement on those achieved in 2014 with the main indicators (% 
passes at grades A*, A*/A & A*-B) all showing significant increases. 
Over two-thirds of students achieving a university place did so at 
Aston, Loughborough or a Russell Group university. Three students 
secured places at Cambridge University. At GCSE the results achieved 
were pleasing especially the return to an A*/A pass rate in excess 
of 60% following the dip in 2014. Particularly pleasing was the A*-B 
pass rate which at 92% was the best achieved by the School and an 
increase of 5% from 2014. The improved standards at both A-Level & 
GCSE have been achieved despite a move to more demanding public 
examinations most notably the return to a two-year linear approach.

Away from academic results 2014-2015 saw the continued provision 
of a diverse range of extra-curricular opportunities for the students. 
Many of these took the boys to all parts of the UK, Europe and 
beyond. Drama and Music continue to flourish with the annual 
musical production with King Edward VI Handsworth School for Girls 
of “Anything Goes” proving to be particularly memorable.

The development of the site continues and this year saw the 
completion of the laboratory refurbishment project. The plan 
to acquire the land between the Aston Expressway and Upper 
Thomas Street continues and thanks to the sustained support of the 
Foundation we remain confident of a successful outcome.

KING EDWARD VI CAMP HILL SCHOOL FOR BOyS
(GRAMMAR SCHOOL) 

King Edward VI Camp Hill School for Boys is an academically selective 
boys’ school forming part of the King Edward VI Foundation.  Kings 
Heath, where the school is situated, is a pleasant suburb in South 
Birmingham. In recent years, it has benefited from a new Sports Hall, 
Library and Sixth Form study area. It was recognised (for the fourth 
time) as an ‘outstanding school’ by Ofsted in May 2009.  

There were 752 boys on roll in January 2015, of whom 250 were in 
the Sixth Form. Since September 2014 the School has admitted 120 
students into Year 7; previously it admitted 93. The vast majority of 
the students stay on at Camp Hill Boys to the age of 18 and proceed 
into Higher Education. Academic standards are extremely high – 
in 2015, 63.2% of all GCSE entries were passed at A* grade. At A 
Level, 36.3% of all entries were passed at A* grade. The School also 
achieved impressive progress measures from Key Stage 2 to the GCSE 
examinations sat in Summer 2015  (99% 3 levels of progress or more, 
92% 4 levels or more and 68% achieved five levels of progress). 17 
students gained entry into either Oxford or Cambridge Universities 
in 2015 and 13 offers have been received for 2016 entry. 89% of 
students gained a university place; 76% of those were to Russell 
Group universities.

For the first time, in June 2014, and then again in June 2015, the 
school ran five familiarisation sessions for primary school pupils 
to prepare them for the entrance test; the pupils were selected by 
their head teachers on the grounds of ability plus disadvantage.  
The school also ran CPD for primary school teachers in English, 
mathematics and in preparation for transition from primary to 
secondary. The school also runs a Junior Poetry and Music day, 
during which pupils from Camp Hill work with primary school pupils, 
preparing a matinee performance for local primary schools and an 
evening performance for parents.

The school will expand by 135 pupils over the five years from September 
2014.  It is therefore increasing the number of teaching spaces by 
building three new classrooms and two new laboratories.  These will be 
completed by May 2016.

KING EDWARD VI CAMP HILL SCHOOL FOR GIRLS
(GRAMMAR SCHOOL)

King Edward VI Camp Hill School for Girls is a selective grammar 
school and shares its site with King Edward VI Camp Hill School for 
Boys. There were 922 girls on the roll at January 2015 with 294 in the 
Sixth Form. 57 pupils joined the Sixth Form from other schools during 
the year.  Attendance remains high at 97%. 55 students were eligible 
for Pupil Premium (FSMEver6) and 26 students were in receipt of Post 
16 Bursary.

The School’s A level students continued to achieve at standards well 
above the national outcomes. Students gained 83.5% A*/B grades. 
55.5% of all A2 levels were at A*/A grade. Year 11 students achieved 
outstanding results well above the national outcomes, the proportion 
of A*/A grades at 82.3%; 48.5% of all GCSEs were at A* grade. 

During the academic year the Sixth Form Enrichment afternoon 
established links with a variety of primary schools, Care Homes, a 
local hospice and an animal sanctuary to provide community service. 
The summer term also saw the Familiarisation programme for Year 6 
pupils develop to include more primary schools from around the area. 
Enrichment week in June was very successful and included the annual 
Senior Citizens Party catering for over 120 local residents. Induction 
events were held for Year 12 and 7 pupils. There were a variety of 
events at the end of the summer term including an Art Exhibition, 
Sports Day and the annual House Fair. An Open afternoon was held 
for prospective parents for 2016 entry.

The school STEM project to introduce Engineering in KS3 was praised 
by the Prince’s Teaching Institute (PTI) after the first year in operation. 
The addition of Latin to the KS3 curriculum, again as a result of work 
with the PTI, has drawn interest across the school. The building of 
the STEM centre has been ongoing. The two laboratories and three 
classrooms will allow for the expansion of numbers in Year 7 and 12 
going forward as well as developing our focus in this area. 

In June the KEC teaching consortium moved to their new home on 
the Camp Hill site. This will be a source of professional development 
opportunities for staff from both schools.
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KING EDWARD VI FIVE WAyS SCHOOL (GRAMMAR SCHOOL)

King Edward VI Five Ways School is the largest co-ed state grammar 
school in the West Midlands.  Currently, there is an intake at the age 
of 11 of 180 pupils per year (irrespective of gender) on the basis of 
performance in the entrance examination set by the King Edward VI 
Foundation.  There were 1212 pupils in the School at January 2015, 
approximately a third of who come from North Worcestershire and 
the Black Country.  Boys and girls are also admitted into our large 
Sixth Form, which has 400 students, with 60 to 80 students of the 
total number joining our Sixth Form from other schools at Year 12.

At A Level, 2014-15 produced another successful year with our 
examination results improving on every measure. 18% of all entries 
were A* grades, our best ever!  44% of all entries were A*-A grades; 
77% of all entries were A*-B grades and there was a 100% pass 
rate.  Eight students achieved entry grades for Oxford or Cambridge 
University.  48 students achieved A* / A grades in all subjects. 
In the DfE School’s Performance Tables, published in January 2016, 
our GCSE results in 2015 positioned us highly again, in fourth position 
for all schools nationally based on average GCSE point score.  31% of 
all entries were A* grades.  65% of all entries were A*-A grades.  88% 
of all entries were A*-B grades.  100% of students achieved 5+ A* - C 
including English and maths.  85% of students achieved the EBacc.  11 
students achieved 10 A* or better at GCSE.  26 students achieved all 
A* / A at GCSE.  In addition, 60 students entered GCSE mathematics at 
the end of year 10, achieving 53 A* and 7 A grades. 96% of students 
in English, and 99% of students in mathematics, achieved expected 
levels of progress, with 60% of students exceeding expected levels of 
progress in English and 85% exceeding expectations in mathematics.

The School visited over 12 countries during the academic year, 
including languages exchange visits to France, Spain and Germany, 
skiing in Austria, the battlefields in Northern France, a cricket tour 
of Sri Lanka, a mathematics visit to Disneyland Paris, trekking in 
Morocco, a rugby exchange to South Africa, a physics visit to Cern in 
Switzerland, and an exchange visit to our partner school in Japan.  In 
addition, the school participated in the British Council’s ‘Connecting 
Classroom’ scheme, forging curriculum links with St Faith’s School in 
Zimbabwe.

Our sports facilities were enhanced by the addition of the all-weather 
pitch which is now used by pupils of all ages and two community hockey 
clubs; we offer competitive hockey opportunities to boys and girls 
teams throughout the school.  We took delivery of a new school minibus 
following a successful fund raising campaign and kind donations from 
our Parents’ Association and Old Edwardians Association.  We opened our 
newly refurbished dining room, ‘Wheeldon’s’.

The Phiz Lab was launched in March 2015, a joint programme, 
funded in part by the Ogden Trust, to promote and support physics 
education in both primary and secondary schools in Birmingham.  
In addition, our Widening Accessibility programme enables us to 
work with over 100 primary schools in the city, enabling their pupils 
to enjoy Pirate Residential Weekends, a Science Fair, a Reading 
campaign, and a primary mathematics challenge.  KEFW Leadership 
expanded its range of activities to include 25 Saturday morning 
primary masterclasses, an Easter Booster programme and four 
activity weeks in the summer holidays.  A diverse  extra-curricular life 
including opportunities in art, music, drama, chess, debating, rugby, 
netball, swimming, rounders, the Duke of Edinburgh Award Scheme, 
Amnesty International, House competitions and outdoor activities 
continues to enrich the School.

KING EDWARD VI HANDSWORTH SCHOOL FOR GIRLS 
(GRAMMAR SCHOOL)

King Edward VI Handsworth School is a selective school for girls in 
Handsworth, a suburb of Birmingham. The School is known in the 
local community as King Edward VI Handsworth School for Girls. 
There were 926 girls enrolled at the School in January 2015. The 
School continues to expand with the introduction of five form entry 
again in Year 7 in September. King Edward VI Handsworth School for 
Girls has had another outstanding year. As a girls’ selective school it 
seeks to provide the girls with an outstanding education: an excellent 
academic experience combined with an array of opportunities inside 
and outside the classroom that allow girls to develop strong values, 
develop talents and enjoy new opportunities. Ofsted last visited in 
February 2014 and graded the school outstanding in all categories; 
this was the fifth consecutive outstanding inspection and the school 
remains one of the few schools in the country to be consistently 
working at this standard. 

In July 2015, Dr Elspeth Insch opened the new Science block.  The 
project created an additional five laboratories, an enlarged classroom, 
new prep facilities, a staff work area, a lift, staff and pupil toilets all 
connected by wide, light and airy corridors.  This extension and 
refurbishment has greatly enhanced the learning environment in 
Science.

Last year examination results were impressive again: at GCSE 81.4% 
of all entries were at A/A*, 41.2% at A*; at A level 79.7% of all entries 
were at A*-B, 46.8% at A*/A. Fundraising for a range of charities is 
always a major part of school life, from Children in Need to our third 
Pink Week (fundraising for breast cancer charities) over £15,000 was 
raised. Sport, music and a vast array of clubs and societies available 
mean that the girls are never bored at lunchtime and have plenty of 
opportunities to develop skills, hobbies and interests.  The Politics 
department organised a successful whole-school mock election 
and related debates, with an 82% turnout for the election itself.  
Curriculum enrichment trips and events are also an important 
dimension of school life which take place in school, locally and further 
afield. Foreign trips included: a Far Frontiers trip to Vietnam, French 
and German exchange visits and a five day visit to Rhineland as part 
of the Year 9 residential programme.  The school production in March 
2015 was a joint production of ‘Anything Goes’ with King Edward VI 
Aston and proved to be a huge success.

KING EDWARD VI SHELDON HEATH ACADEMy

King Edward VI Sheldon Heath Academy (KESH Academy) is a 
community secondary school located to the east of Birmingham, 
close to the airport.  This is our second full year in the new Academy 
building which was built under the Building Schools for the Future 
programme; opening in September 2013.The Academy remains 
popular, with more applicants than places.  At the January Census 
there were 1,228 students on roll.

The standards of students upon entry are below National Standards 
(Raiseonline); the Year 11 cohort in 2015 was -0.7 from the average 
Attainment on Entry (AoE) and equivalent to the top end of a level 3.  
However, students, despite their below average AoE, make progress 
that is in line with the national average, thus indicating that progress 
is at least satisfactory and, for some sub-groups of students, is good. 
As a result of this good progress, the average attainment at the end 
of Year 11 is a grade C. The proportion of students achieving A* - C in 
the EBacc suite of subjects increased to 39%, a figure well above the 
national average of 24% which demonstrates the effectiveness of our 
transition to a more academic curriculum.  An equally aspirational 
provision in the Sixth Form resulted in a significant increase on the 
progress students make in both vocational (from 0.32 to 0.42) and 
A-Level (from -0.01 to 0.04) courses. 

Governors’ report
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The Academy is committed to developing responsible, aspirational, 
independent, happy and well-rounded young people with the self-
belief to reach their goals. The Academy’s work will be underpinned 
by its core values and driven by their unequivocal belief in equality 
and tolerance. Student progress will be secured through inspirational 
and enthusiastic teaching, the provision of a broad, challenging 
curriculum and excellent support and care. The Academy wants to 
ensure their young people fulfil and exceed their potential, be proud 
of who they are, be committed to lifelong learning and leave well-
equipped to navigate their way through the challenges of the 21st 
Century; positively contributing to society both economically and 
socially.

Partnership with parents is seen to be essential to ensuring that 
students are able to achieve their potential. The Academy will use 
strategies which allow parents to feel valued and able to contribute 
to the process of educating their child. The Academy and the Sponsor 
believe that every child has a right to be supported to achieve and to 
have access to those resources and systems which meet their needs. 
Students with special education needs and those who are “looked 
after” will be given particular support. 

Thanks to the endowment funds generously provided by our 
benefactors, Birmingham City Council, Service Birmingham and The 
NEC Group, we are able to generate a supplemental income stream.  
This income is used to support the enrichment of the curriculum for 
students who might otherwise not be able to participate in additional 
activities due to their personal circumstances.

Mr P Burns                          Mr G Andronov 
Chairman                          Bailiff

30 March 2016

Governors’ report
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For the year ended 31 August 2015

Note Unrestricted Funds Endowment Expendable Total Funds Total Funds

Schools Designated Endowment
Fund Income

Fund Endowment Restricted Year Year
Fund Fund Capital Fund Fund 2015 2014

£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £
INCOMING RESOURCES

Incoming resources from
generated funds

Rental income 5 - - 2,773,763 -  105 - 2,773,868 2,721,443
Sale of interest in land       -    -    -    3,997,529 - - 3,997,529 -
Investment income 6  -   - 878,691 -  84,720 70,865 1,034,276 1,092,630
Bank and other interest  1,593 - 39,297 -  10,122 2,268 53,280 63,501
Voluntary income  23,157 -  -   - 361,452 150,780 535,389 707,754

Incoming resources from
charitable activities

Fees receivable 3 12,965,040 - - - - - 12,965,040 12,615,816
Lettings income 230,251 - - - - - 230,251 260,848
Catering income 498,928 - - - - -  498,928 539,562
Extra-curricular activities 703,245 - - - - -  703,245 969,442

Other incoming resources  229,999 - 177,012 - - - 407,011 184,962

Total incoming resources 14,652,213 - 3,868,763  3,997,529 456,399 223,913 23,198,817 19,155,958

RESOURCES EXPENDED

Costs of generating funds
  Investment management - - 148,810 148,810 - - 297,620 280,809
  Estate management - - 142,670 - - - 142,670 101,317

- - 291,480 148,810 - - 440,290 382,126

Charitable activities
Schools  17,046,156  18,584  66,232  -    56,353  274,608 17,461,933 16,883,055
Grant-making  -   3,208,106  1,679,365  -    -    -   4,887,471 1,534,183

       Donation  -    -    -    -    -    776,678 776,678 63,145

Governance costs - -  473,544 - - - 473,544 489,305

Other resources expended   
       Depreciation - - -  503,808  101,732 - 605,540 640,598

17,046,156 3,226,690 2,219,141 503,808  158,085  1,051,286 24,205,166 19,610,286

Total resources expended 16 17,046,156 3,226,690 2,510,621 652,618  158,085  1,051,286 24,645,456 19,992,412

Net incoming/(outgoing)
resources  before transfers (2,393,943) (3,226,690) 1,358,142 3,344,911 298,314 (827,373) (1,446,639) (836,454)

Transfers between funds 18 2,600,390 281,040 (2,076,440) (804,990)  2,663,304 (2,663,304) - -

NET INCOMING /(OUTGOING) 
RESOURCES
before recognised gains/(losses)

206,447 (2,945,650) (718,298) 2,539,921 2,961,618 (3,490,677) (1,446,639) (836,454)

Gains on investment assets 19 - -  -    4,521,614 (75,061) (24,480) 4,422,073 6,147,135

Actuarial gains / (losses) on defined
benefit pension 24 - - 787,000  -    -    -   787,000 (1,287,000)

Net movement in funds (a) 206,447 (2,945,650) 68,702 7,061,535 2,886,557 (3,515,157) 3,762,434 4,023,681

Fund balances at 1 Setember 2014 (b) 898,544 4,790,370 683,098 118,889,576 7,476,429 5,611,931 138,349,948 134,326,267

FUND BALANCES
at 31 August 2015 (a+b) 1,104,991 1,844,720 751,800 125,951,111 10,362,986 2,096,774 142,112,382 138,349,948

All activities arise from continuing operations.

Statement of Financial Activities

Permanent &
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At 31 August 2015
31 August 31 August

Note 2015 2014
£ £ £ £

Fixed Assets

Tangible assets 4 25,400,253 25,102,122
Investment property 5 55,029,580 52,315,045
Investments 6 64,668,676 62,645,557

145,098,509 140,062,724
Current Assets

Debtors 8 1,647,188 1,375,685
Short term deposits 957,403 2,592,767
Cash at bank and in hand 3,607,952 2,532,355

6,212,543 6,500,807

Liabilities
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 9 6,354,670 4,184,583

Net Current (liabilities)/Assets (142,127) 2,316,224

Total net assets before pension deficit 144,956,382 142,378,948

Pension scheme funding deficit 24 2,844,000 4,029,000

Net Assets 142,112,382 138,349,948

Represented by: 

Unrestricted funds
Designated fund 11 1,844,720 4,790,370
Schools’ fund 12 1,104,991 898,544
Endowment fund - Income 13 3,595,800 4,712,098
Less FRS 17 Pension Deficit 24 (2,844,000) (4,029,000)

751,800 683,098

3,701,511 6,372,012

Permanent and Expendable Endowment fund 14 10,362,986 7,476,429

Endowment fund - Capital 13 125,951,111 118,889,576

Restricted fund 15 2,096,774 5,611,931

Total Funds 142,112,382 138,349,948

The financial statements on pages 27 to 46 were approved by the Board on 30 March 2016, and authorised for issue on its behalf by:

Mr P Burns Mr G Anronov  
Chairman Bailiff 

30 March 2016

Balance Sheet
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For the year ended 31 August 2015
31 August 31 August

2015 2014
£ £

Reconciliation of operating resources

Net incoming/(outgoing) resources for year (1,446,639) (836,454)

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 605,540 640,598
Costs of Retirement Benefits Scheme (note 24) 379,000 446,000
Interest received (53,280) (63,501)
(Increase)/Decrease in debtors (271,503) 429,600
Increase in creditors 2,170,087 432,631

Net cash flow from operating activities                             (a) 1,383,205 1,048,874

Returns on investments and servicing of finance

Interest  received 53,280 63,501

Net cash inflow from returns on Investments and
servicing of finance                                 (b) 53,280 63,501

Capital expenditure and financial investment

Other property income 55,507 -
Payments to acquire tangible fixed assets (903,671) (1,027,836)
Sale of investments in shares 30,972,223 36,491,419
Purchase of investments in shares (35,520,918) (33,545,246)
Movement in cash awaiting investment in shares 4,177,607 (1,841,552)
Payments to Retirement Benefits Scheme (note 24) (777,000) (668,000)

Net cash outflow from capital expenditure and financial investment (c) (1,996,252) (591,215)

Management of liquid resources

Net cash paid to short term deposit (d) 1,635,364 (1,000,079)

(Increase)/(Decrease in cash              (a+b+c+d) 1,075,597 (478,919)

Reconciliation of net cashflow to movement in net funds

Changes during the year
At 1 September 2014 5,125,122 4,603,962
Net cash (inflow)/outflow 1,075,597 (478,919)
Liquid resources outflow/(inflow) (1,635,364) 1,000,079

At 31 August 2015 4,565,355 5,125,122

Analysis of net funds
Movement
in period

2015 2014
£ £ £

Cash at bank and in hand 3,607,952 1,075,597 2,532,355
Short term deposits 957,403 (1,635,364) 2,592,767

4,565,355 (559,767) 5,125,122

 

Cash Flow Statement
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Basis of Preparation

The financial accounts have been prepared under the historical cost 
convention as modified by the revaluation  of investments and 
investment properties in accordance with applicable UK applicable 
accounting standards, the Charities Act 2011 and the Statement of 
Recommended Practice ‘Accounting and Reporting by Charities’ 
(SORP) issued in March 2005 (2nd Edition).

A summary of the principal accounting policies, which have been 
applied consistently, are set out below. 
 
Fees and Similar Income

Fees receivable and charges for the use of premises and facilities are 
accounted for in the year in which the service is provided. Fees 
receivable are stated after deducting bursaries, scholarships and other 
remissions allowed by the Schools.

The deductions, which are reviewable each year, are recognised in the 
year in which they are expended. Provisions are made for fees that are 
considered difficult to recover. 

Rents

Rental income is recognised as received or receivable in respect of the 
financial year.

Sales of interests in land are recognised as income in the year of 
receipt and credited to the Endowment Fund - Capital. The receipts 
are amortised over the length of the lease and transfers made to the 
Endowment Fund - Income.

Investment Income

Income, in the form of fixed interest and equity dividends, is earned 
from investments held during the year, and recognised when 
receivable.

Voluntary Income

Voluntary income is accounted for on a receivable basis.

Resources Expended

Expenditure is accounted for on an accruals basis. The irrecoverable 
element of VAT is included within the item of expense to which it relates.

Governance costs comprise the costs of running the charity, including 
strategic planning; internal and external audit; legal advice; and the costs of 
complying with constitutional and statutory requirements, such as the costs 
of the Governors’ meetings, preparing statutory accounts and satisfying 
public accountability and are charged to the Endowment – Fund Income.
 
Grant making costs shown on the Statement of Financial Activities 
include the costs associated with the activity and the support costs of the 
Foundation Office and are charged to the Endowment – Fund Income. 

Costs of the Foundation Office (both governance and grant making) 
are not allocated to any other fund. 

Operating leases

Operating lease costs are charged to the accounts over the period of 
the lease.

Notes to the Accounts 

Grants

The Foundation provides annual grants to the two Independent  
Schools from the Endowment Fund – Income and small annual 
widening accessibility grants to all eight schools. In addition, when 
sufficient funds are available, it makes periodic capital grants to the 
seven Schools to enable them to undertake specific projects. One-off 
grants are also made to the Schools on a case by case basis.  

Funds earmarked specifically for the Academies are designated in a 
separate fund and then charged through the Statement of Financial 
Activities when they are approved for payment or payable. 

Grants awarded to the Independent Schools are shown as a transfer 
from the Endowment Fund - Income to the School’s Fund on the 
Statement of Financial Activities.

Tangible fixed assets

Land, buildings, equipment and donated assets are capitalised as 
tangible fixed assets at historic cost, and accounted for in the 
Endowment Fund - Capital. Assets with a cost below £20,000 are not 
capitalised.

No depreciation is provided on freehold land, but other assets are 
depreciated on a straight line basis over their useful economic life, and 
charged to the Endowment Fund - Capital.

 Buildings - new  50 years
 Buildings - refurbished: improved  10 years
 Plant  10 years
 Vehicles  5 years
 Leasehold property  Length of lease

With the exception of freehold sites, tangible fixed assets of the 
Academies are not incorporated in the accounts of the Foundation.

Historic assets have been excluded from the balance sheet as reliable 
cost information is not available and the historic cost is not believed to 
be material to the accounts.

Investments

Investments are included at closing mid-market value at the balance 
sheet date. Any realised and unrealised gains and losses on revaluation 
or disposals are combined in the statement of financial activities.

Investment properties are valued every five years by the Property 
Advisor to the Governors. A desktop revaluation is carried out on an 
annual basis.

No depreciation is charged on investment properties. 

1 - Statement of Accounting Policies 
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Recognition of Liabilities

Liabilities are recognised when either a constructive or legal 
obligation exists.  

Pension schemes

Teaching staff are eligible to join the Teachers’ Pension Scheme 
administered by the Department for Education. Eligible non-teaching 
staff may join the Defined Contribution Scheme. Contributions to the 
Teachers Pension Scheme and the Defined Contribution Scheme are 
charged to the Statement of Financial Activities in the year they 
become payable. 

The Governors’ Defined Benefit Pension Scheme, which was closed to 
new members in 2010, is valued every three years by a professionally 
qualified independent actuary, who determines the rates of 
contribution payable. The pension charge in the accounts represents 
the regular charge adjusted by amortisation of the pension scheme 
surplus or deficit. 

The difference between the fair value of assets held in the Governors’ 
Defined Benefit Scheme and the scheme’s liabilities measured on an 
actuarial basis using the projected unit method are recognised in the 
Foundation’s balance sheet as a pension asset or liability as 
appropriate. The carrying value of any resulting pension scheme asset 
is restricted to the extent that the Foundation is able to recover the 
surplus either through reduced contributions in the future or through 
refunds of the scheme. Changes in the defined pension scheme asset 
or liability arising from factors other than cash contributions by the 
Foundation are charged to the Statement of Financial Activities in 
accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 17 - “Retirement 
benefits” (FRS 17).

Deficits or surplus’s arising from the FRS17 adjustments are charged to 
the Endowment Fund - Income. Any deficits accruing are covered by a 
corresponding transfer made from the Endowment Fund - Capital to 
the Endowment - Income Fund. 
 
Funds

Schools’ Fund - An unrestricted fund which comprises the surpluses 
arising from the activities of the two Independent Schools - King 
Edward’s School, and King Edward VI High School for Girls.

Designated Fund - The Governors exercise their discretion to make 
provision for future expenditure on specific projects of a non- 
recurring nature from which the Designated Fund is constituted. 
Funds that have been earmarked to the Academies are also shown 
within this fund until such time as they are paid or payable or an 
obligation to pay exists. 

Endowment Fund - This fund is used at the discretion of the 
Governors in furtherance of the objectives of the Foundation.

The fund comprises two elements. Capital, being the accumulation of 
capital gains derived from its investments, and Income, being the 
surplus arising from the income generated by its investments, after 
deduction of management costs and grant distributions to the schools.

Expendable Endowment Fund - The fund has been established by 
the receipt of donated funds, and has been used by Governors to 
part-finance the construction of a Performing Arts Centre for the 
benefit of King Edward VI High School for Girls and King Edward’s 
School and for a new classroom block in King Edward’s School. 

Permanent Endowment Fund - This fund represents a number of 
individual funds (previously described as Restricted Funds) where only 
the income from the capital can be spent.

Restricted Fund - This fund is a consolidation of a number of 
individual funds, all of which have restrictions placed on them 
regarding the expending of capital and/or income.

The policy on the fund’s reserves can be found in the Governors’ 
Report.

Liquid resources

Liquid resources detailed in the cash flow statement comprise short 
term investments which can be readily converted into cash.

2 - Related Parties

Convertor Academies

The five Grammar Schools (now Converter Academies) are associated 
with the Governing Body, and are deemed to be a related party under 
the Financial Reporting Standard (FRS) 8 - Related Party Disclosures. 
The financial results of the Academies are not included in these 
accounts, but from 1 August 2011 on conversion to academy status 
are reported within their own company accounts and can be found on 
the Schools’ websites. The Schools receive grants annually from the 
Foundation as disclosed in the designated fund in Note 11 to the 
accounts. In addition, the Foundation, as the registered charity, holds 
appeal funds on behalf of the Academies as Restricted Funds, as 
shown in Note 9 to the accounts. The land and buildings occupied 
rent-free by the Academies, are owned by the Foundation. The 
Foundation also provides finance, accounting, payroll and personnel, 
admissions support and governance services to the Grammar Schools.

The financial information of the Grammar Schools will be consolidated 
into the financial statements of the Department for Education and of 
its Department Group under the Government Resources and Account 
Act 2000 (Estimates and Accounts) Order 2012. This demonstrates that 
the Department of Education believes that it exerts control, the 
financial statements of the Grammar Schools are therefore not 
consolidated within the Foundation’s financial statements.

Sponsored Academy

The financial results of King Edward VI Sheldon Heath are also 
excluded from these accounts and are reported separately to the 
Education Funding Agency (EFA).

KE High School for Girls Trust Fund

The Governors also control the KE High School for Girls Trust Fund 
which has not been consolidated on the grounds of immateriality.

Notes to the Accounts

1 - Statement of Accounting Policies (continued)
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3  -  Fees Receivable                               Year                                 Year

2015 2014
Fees receivable comprise: £ £
Gross school fees (net of bad debts) 16,401,175 15,608,421
Less:
     Governors’ Assisted Places Scheme   (2,645,320)    (2,323,000)
     Scholarships, Remission & Staff Consessions (790,815) (669,605)

12,965,040 12,615,816
 

4  -  Tangible fixed assets
Freehold

Sites
Buildings Asset in the

Course of 
Construction

Plant and
Equipment

Total

£ £ £ £ £
 
Cost at 1 September 2014 359,466 32,081,311 296,131 609,197 33,346,105
Additions * - (108,828) 1,012,499  -   903,671
Transfers - 1,068,903 (1,068,903)  -    -   

At 31 August 2015 359,466 33,041,386 239,727 609,197 34,249,776

Depreciation at 1 September 2014 - 7,952,863 - 291,120 8,243,983
Charge for the year - 589,623 - 15,917 605,540

At 31 August 2015 - 8,542,486 - 307,037 8,849,523

Net book values
At 31 August 2015 359,466 24,498,900 239,727 302,160 25,400,253

Net book values
At 31 August 2014 359,466 24,128,448 296,131 318,077 25,102,122

5  -  Investment property

Governors have agreed that a formal valuation will be carried out at least every five years, with desktop reviews  in interim years. A formal 
valuation was carried out at 31 August 2012 by GVA Grimley, acting as Property Advisor to the Governors, with the investment portfolio 
valued at £49,720,000, based on open market value. The valuation was carried out in accordance with the guidelines set out by the Royal 
Institute of Chartered Surveyors. An interim valuation was carried out at 31 August 2015 which resulted in an increase to the valuation.

31 August 31 August
2015 2014

£ £

Market value at 1 September 2014 52,315,045 49,720,000
Net gains on revaluation at 31 August 2015 (note 19)  2,770,042  2,595,045 
Disposals of property during the year (55,507) -

Market value at 31 August 2015 55,029,580 52,315,045

It is not possible to provide an accurate historical cost of the property portfolio. A significant part of the portfolio was given as 
charter land at no cost, and costs are not available for acquisitions made some considerable time ago.

The rental income derived from the property is taken to the following funds:

Endowment Fund  - Income 2,773,763 2,721,443
Permanent Endowment Fund 105 -

Total rental income 2,773,868 2,721,443

Disposals of interests in land are credited in the year of receipt to the Endowment Fund - Capital and amortised over the period of 
the relevant lease. During the year £3,997,529 net was realised. The amortised amount of £191,209 (2014: £189,458) is transferred 
to the Endowment Fund - Income.

Notes to the Accounts

* Negative buildings additions relate to a VAT reclaim on the Performing Arts Centre.   
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6 - Listed investments

Barclays Wealth is responsible for the day to day management of the listed investment portfolio.

Market Value 2015 2014
£ £

Market value at 1 September 2014 58,227,596 57,621,679

Additions at cost 35,520,918 33,545,246

Disposals at market value (30,972,223) (36,491,419)

Realised profit from sales during the year (note 19) 1,994,936 1,953,976

Net gains on revaluation at 31 August 2015 (note 19) (342,905) 1,598,114

64,428,322 58,227,596

Cash at bank awaiting investment 240,354 4,417,961

Market value at 31 August 2015 64,668,676 62,645,557

Analysis of capital and income 
by type of investment Capital Income

Market Value as at
31.08.15

Market Value as at
31.08.14

Year Year
2015 2014

£ £ £ £
United Kingdom
Fixed interest 5,580,233 7,068,730 279,560 244,053
Equities 7,375,786 11,258,344 191,200 303,179

(a) 12,956,019 18,327,074 470,760 547,232

Overseas Equities (b) 27,256,172 21,628,394 209,199 201,490
  

Overseas Bonds (c) 9,524,175 6,952,594 221,989  195,666 

Global Fund (d)  5,238,996  1,181,878 96,867 135,123

Commodities (e) 1,381,761 1,456,344  -    -   

Hedge Funds (f ) 8,071,197 7,499,108 35,461  13,119 

Alternative Trading Strategies (g)  -   1,182,204  -    -   

Sub total (a+b+c+d+e+f+g) 64,428,320 58,227,596 1,034,276 1,092,630

Cash at bank awaiting investment 240,354 4,417,961

Total investments at market value 64,668,674 62,645,557

Total investments (exc cash) at cost 60,194,956 53,651,326

Notes to the Accounts

Investments included in the above with a market value greater than 5% of the total portfolio market value at 31 August, were as follows:

31 August 2015
£

31 August 2014
£

8.75% UK Gilt Snr 25 Aug 17 -  3,407,371 
Barclays Global Beta Portfolio 3-R-GBP 3,997,872 -
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8 - Debtors 31 August 31 August
2015 2014

£ £

Fees net of provision 269,264 172,758
Rents 220,614 220,472
Investment income 120,912 108,064
King Edward VI Sheldon Heath Academy 504,077 522,496
Prepayments and accrued income 532,321 351,895

1,647,188 1,375,685

7 - Investment - Other Matters

Transfers

Governors have adopted a Total Return Strategy for listed Investments which has been in place since September 2011. A Total 
Return Strategy means that the performance of listed investments is assessed in terms of both income and capital growth. On 
an annual basis, and in line with levels of realised and unrealised capital growth in the Endowment Fund - Capital, Governors 
approve the value of the transfer which is necessary to maintain a surplus balance on the Endowment Fund - Income. 
A transfer of £1,175,000 (2014: £900,000) was made from the Endowment Fund - Capital to the Endowment Fund - Income during 
the year.
    
Loan and Security

The Foundation has in place a £10 Million Evergreen Loan Facility with Barclays Bank which is secured on the Foundation’s main 
portfolio of listed investments. No funds were drawn down on this facility during the year.
     

9 - Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 31 August 31 August
2015 2014

£ £

Trade creditors 624,976 589,500
Other creditors 160,276 314,982
Accruals and deferred income 1,469,444 1,261,762
Pensions 228,126 219,702
Taxation and Social Security 379,540 370,636
Grants to Grammar Schools 2,394,106 237,900
Funds held on behalf of Grammar Schools 1,098,202 1,190,101

6,354,670 4,184,583

Deferred Income 31 August 31 August
2015 2014

£ £

Deferred Income at 1 September 2014 835,772 727,684
Resources deferred in the year 812,317 712,378
Amounts released from previous years (835,772) (604,290)

Deferred Income at 31 August 2015 812,317  835,772 

Amounts deferred at 31 August 2015 and 31 August 2014 relate to fees received in advance of £537,197 (2014: £524,585), rents 
received in advance of £193,109 (2014: £178,859) and trip income received in advance from parents of £82,011 (2014: £132,328).  
         
        
 

Notes to the Accounts
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10 - Analysis of net assets between funds
Total Total

Endowment Expendable 31 August
2015

31 August
2014Schools Designated Income/Capital Endowment Restricted

£ £ £ £ £ £ £

Tangible fixed assets - - 17,675,199 7,725,054 - 25,400,253 25,102,122
Investment property - - 54,854,580 175,000 - 55,029,580 52,315,045
Investments - - 60,689,548 2,364,361 1,614,767 64,668,676 62,645,557
Net current assets 1,104,991 1,844,720 (3,672,416)  98,571 482,007 (142,127) 2,316,224
Pension scheme funding deficit - - (2,844,000) - - (2,844,000) (4,029,000)

1,104,991 1,844,720 126,702,911 10,362,986 2,096,774 142,112,382 138,349,948

11 - Designated fund
2015 2015

£ £

Balance at 1 September 2014 4,790,370 6,347,899 
Funds designated for specific purposes:
       Schools  - Minor works (note 12) 35,000 35,000
       Grammar School Capital Grants - 613,100
       Widening Access Programme  122,262 240,000
      Performing Arts Centre - replacement equipment & furniture  123,778 -
                 281,040 888,100 
Funds undesignated/transferred to other funds:
       Performing Arts Centre - funds previously spent - (2,000,000) 
       Grammar School Capital Grants  (3,208,106) 

(2,927,066) (1,111,900) 
Funds paid or payable during the year:
      Grammar School Capital Grants - (237,900) 
      Widening accessibility Grants - (120,000) 
      Widening accessibility expenditure -  (87,729) 
      Performing Arts Centre expenditure  (18,584) -

(18,584) (445,629) 

Balance at 31 August 2015 1,844,720 4,790,370 

12 - Schools’  fund
King Edward’s School King Edward VI High School for Girls Total Total

Year Year Year Year Year Year
2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014

£ £ £ £ £ £

Income 9,158,379 9,024,262 5,493,834 5,484,004 14,652,213 14,508,266 
Expenditure (10,178,305 ) (9,862,624 ) (6,867,851 ) (6,301,194 ) (17,046,156 ) (16,163,818 )

Net resources (1,019,926 ) (838,362 ) (1,374,017 ) (817,190 ) (2,393,943 ) (1,655,552 )

Grants from the Foundation 1,437,518 1,363,006 1,197,872 1,042,110 2,635,390 2,405,116 

Utilised for tangible fixed assets - (951,082) - (27,911) - (978,993 )
Transfer (to)/from Designated Fund -
as per note 11 - - (35,000) (35,000) (35,000) (35,000)

417,592 (426,438) (211,145) 162,009 206,447 (264,429)

Balance at 1 September 2014 (419,428) 7,010 1,317,972 1,155,963 898,544 1,162,973 

Balances at 31 August 2015 (1,836 ) (419,428) 1,106,827 1,317,972 1,104,991 898,544 

The balance in the Designated Fund at 31 August 2015 includes £1,198,001 of grants designated for the Grammar Schools; £306,993 
designated for School minor works; £234,533 designated to support the eight Schools in Widening Accessibility and £105,193 as an 
equipment and furniture replacement fund for the Performing Arts Centre.     

Notes to the Accounts

Permanent
and
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13 - Endowment fund
Note Income Capital  2015  2014

£ £ £ £

Income 3,868,763 3,997,529 7,866,292 3,797,629
Expenditure (2,510,621) (652,618) (3,163,239) (2,593,031)

1,358,142 3,344,911 4,703,053 1,204,598

Transfers between funds (2,267,649) (613,781) (2,881,430) (279,223)
Transfer within fund
        Amortisation of sales of interests in land 5 191,209 (191,209) - -

18 (2,076,440) (804,990) (2,881,430) (279,223)

Net incoming/(outgoing) resources (718,298) 2,539,921 1,821,623 925,375

Investment gains 19 - 4,521,614  4,521,614 5,914,777
Actuarial gain/(loss) on defined benefit pension 24 787,000  -                 787,000 (1,287,000)

Net movement in fund 68,702 7,061,535 7,130,237 5,553,152

Balance at 1 September 2014 683,098 118,889,576 119,572,674 114,019,522

Balance at 31 August 2015 751,800 125,951,111 126,702,911 119,572,674

14 - Expendable Endowment fund
Performing Arts Other

Centre Donations  2015  2014

£ £ £ £

Balance at 1 September 2014 4,863,906 2,612,523 7,476,429 7,574,337

Funds received during the year
Investment Income - 94,947 94,947  -   
Donations received - 361,452 361,452 3,477

Resources expended during the year
Depreciation (101,732)  -   (101,732) (101,385)
Teaching and Grants  -   (48,698) (48,698)  -   
Equipment and Furniture (7,655)  -   (7,655)  -   

Transfer
Reclassification of Restricted Funds (note 15)  -    2,663,304 2,663,304  -   

Investment gains / (losses)  -   (75,061) (75,061)  -   

Balance at 31 August 2015 4,754,519  5,608,467  10,362,986  7,476,429 

Notes to the Accounts

The Performing Arts Centre Expendable Endowment Fund is a separately identifiable fund set up as part of the terms of the 
donation to the Independent Schools. 

Other donations include amounts received (and spent) in 2013 on the Andrew Brode Wing at King Edward’s School together 
with the reclassification of Restricted Funds to Permanently Endowed Funds; which are funds where only the income from the 
donations can be spent (see note 15).
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Notes to the Accounts

15 - Restricted fund
Funds brought Income Resources Transferred Realised and Funds carried

forward at expended to Permanent Unrealised forward at
1 September 

2014
& Expendable

 Endowment Fund
Gains 31 August 2015

£ £ £ £ £ £

Special Funds  4,531,168 185,865 (1,048,696) (2,663,304) -  1,005,033 

Benjamin Cowie  421,535 14,646 - - (9,414)  426,767 

The Webster Bequest  349,713 13,195 - - (8,504)  354,404 

KES  309,515 10,207 (2,590) - (6,562)  310,570 

 5,611,931 223,913 (1,051,286) (2,663,304) (24,480)  2,096,774 

31 August 2014  5,221,536  846,586 (688,549) - 232,358  5,611,931 

Included within Special Funds 
(Restricted) are the following:
The Albion Trust Fund  194,554  11,109 (57,380) - -  148,283 

The Margaret Davis Funds  803,800  116,708 (159,147) - -  761,361 

The Norman Oakley Fund  280,116  7,337 - (287,453) - -

Various bursaries  284,276  1,960 (191,443) - -  94,793 

 1,562,746  137,114 (407,970) (287,453) -  1,004,437 

Special Funds    
   

The Albion Trust   
  
 

The Margaret Davis Funds  
   
 

The Norman Oakley Fund  
  
 
Benjamin Cowie    
  
 

The Webster Bequest   
   

KES  

The fund is comprised of over 300 individual funds, providing prizes, grants and 
scholarships to pupils at the schools of the Foundation. The majority of the individual 
funds are Permanently Endowed Funds and have therefore been disclosed within note 14 
“Permanent and Expendable Endowment Fund” as a transfer.

The fund is to encourage students from inner city Birmingham to apply to King Edward 
VI Aston School for their compulsory or sixth form education. Income received after 1 
September 2013 is shown within the financial statements of King Edward VI Aston School. 
The closing balance at 31 August 2014 was incorrectly disclosed in this note at £232,819. 
The correct figure is £194,554.

The fund was bequeathed to King Edward’s School and King Edward VI High School 
for Girls for the purpose of funding assisted places. A fund was also provided to the 
Foundation to support an archiving project.  

The fund is used to provide an award for an  “annual scholarship for excellence in art” 
(Permanently Endowed Fund)

The bequest, received in 1982, is used to support pupils in financial need, subsidise 
activities, and meet leadership training costs for both masters and boys at King Edward’s 
School. 

The fund was bequeathed to King Edward’s School in 2000, and is used for the purpose of 
funding scholarships in the school.

The King Edward’s School Fund was established in 1958 from gifts provided for the 
improvement of educational opportunities at King Edward’s School.  
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Notes to the Accounts

16 - Analysis of total resources expended
31 August 31 August

2015 2014
Staff Costs Other Costs Depreciation TOTAL TOTAL

£ £ £ £ £
Cost of generating funds
Endowment Fund - Income
         Investment management - 148,810 - 148,810 140,405
         Estate management - 142,670 - 142,670 101,317
Endowment Fund - Capital
         Investment management - 148,810 - 148,810 140,404

(a) - 440,290 - 440,290 382,126

Charitable activities - Schools
Schools’  Fund 
         Teaching 9,615,306 2,275,141 - 11,890,447 11,614,328
         Welfare 352,447 67,713 - 420,160 460,510
         Premises 890,927 2,218,402 - 3,109,329 2,832,566
         Support costs of schooling 942,346 683,874 - 1,626,220 1,256,414

11,801,026 5,245,130 - 17,046,156 16,163,818

Endowment Income Fund
         Support costs of schooling 66,232 - - 66,232 93,833

Restricted Fund and Permanent Endowment Fund
         Teaching costs - 25,102 - 25,102 70,384
         Welfare - - - - 720
         Premises - 106,079 - 106,079 1,185
         Administration - 30 - 30 -
         Grants and prizes - 68,175 - 68,175 84,652
         Archiving project - 65,159 - 65,159 109,277
         Gifts held on behalf of other schools - 66,416 - 66,416 359,186

- 330,961 - 330,961 625,404

Designated Fund        Premises - 18,584 - 18,584 -

Sub-total 11,867,258 5,594,675 - 17,461,933 16,883,055

Charitable activities - Grant making
Endowment Fund - Income and Capital
         Support costs to all Schools  936,185  608,576 - 1,544,761 1,176,283
         Grants to Grammar Schools - Revenue*  -   3,332,710 - 3,332,710                   337,900
         Other Grants  -   10,000 - 10,000                     20,000 

Sub-total 936,185 3,951,286 - 4,887,471               1,534,183

Charitable activities - Other
Restricted Fund - Donations -  776,678 -  776,678 63,145

Sub-total - 776,678 - 776,678  63,145 

Total charitable activities (b) 12,803,443 10,322,639 - 23,126,082 18,480,383

Governance costs
Endowment Fund - Income (c) 165,209 308,335 - 473,544 489,305

Other resources expended

Endowment Fund Capital - Depreciation - -  503,808  503,808 539,213
Expendable Endowment Fund - Depreciation - - 101,732 101,732 101,385

         (d) - -  605,540  605,540  640,598 

Total resources expended (a+b+c+d) 12,968,652 11,071,264 605,540 24,645,456 19,992,412
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17 - Expenditure
Year Year

2015 2014            

£ £
Charitable activity expenditure includes

          Revenue grants to the Grammar Schools of the Foundation to be expended primarily on
          capital projects, premises improvements and maintenance 3,282,710 237,900
          Other revenue grants to the Schools of the Foundation to support Widening Access 60,000 120,000
          Operating lease costs 46,927 32,717

Governance expenditure includes
Auditor’s remuneration
          For audit  30,000 30,000
          For other services  25,620 10,560

55,620 40,560

Staff costs are
Wages and salaries 10,650,478 9,959,509
Social security costs 911,379 864,191
Pension contributions 1,404,462 1,407,876
Pension payments to former staff 2,333 3,074

12,968,652 12,234,650

The emoluments (excluding employer pension contributions)  of  full-time employees earning over £60,000 fell within the following 
bands:

2015 2014
No. No.

£60,001 - £70,000 1 -

£70,001 - £80,000 5 4

£80,001 - £90,000 3 2

£100,001 - £110,000 - 1

£110,001 - £120,000 1 -

£120,001 - £130,000 - 1

£210,001 - £220,000 1 1

The employer pension costs for those staff above in the Defined Contribution Scheme amounted to £13,039 (2014: £11,796)

Those above with retirement benefits accruing in defined benefit schemes were: 9 7

Those above with retirement benefits accruing in defined contribution schemes were: 2 2

Year
2015

Year
2014

Average number of employees:
Full-time Part-time Full-time Part-time

Teaching  118  36 115 45
Education support  20  16 22 19
Maintenance, cleaning, catering and grounds  20  52 26 55
Administration  37  16 37 11

195 120 200 130

Notes to the Accounts
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18 - Transfers to/(from) funds

Schools
Fund

Designated
Fund

Endowment
Fund

Income

Endowment
Fund

Capital

Permanent & 
Expendable 
Endowment 

Fund

Restricted 
Fund

£ £ £ £ £ £
Grants to the Independent Schools
          Revenue grants 2,635,390 -        (2,635,390) - - -
Widening Access Programme - 122,263           (122,263)
Amortisation of the capital receipts arising  -   - 191,209 (191,209) - -
from sales of interests in land    
Decrease in FRS 17 Pension Liability  -    -   (684,996) 684,996  -    -   
Funds set aside for specific projects (35,000) 35,000  -    -    -    -   
Performing Arts Centre replacement furniture  -    123,777  -   (123,777)  -    -   
Investment Total Return (note7)  -    -   1,175,000 (1,175,000)  -    -   
Reclassification of Special Funds (note15)  -                               -    -    -   2,663,304 (2,663,304)

year to 31 August 2015 (a+b) 2,600,390 281,040 (2,076,440) (804,990) 2,663,304 (2,663,304)

    

19 - Investment gains/(losses)

Endowment
Fund

Capital

Permanent & 
Expendable 
Endowment 

Fund

Restricted 
Fund

Year
Total Funds

2015

Year
Total Funds

2014

£ £ £ £
Listed investments

          Realised (note 6)  2,086,836 (69,833) (22,067)  1,994,936 1,953,976
          Unrealised (note 6) (335,264) (5,228) (2,413) (342,905) 1,598,114

Investment property
          Realised  55,507 - -  55,507  -   
          Unrealised (note 5)  2,714,535 - -  2,714,535  2,595,045 

4,521,614 (75,061) (24,480) 4,422,073 6,147,135

Notes to the Accounts
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20 - Related Party Transactions

The Foundation considers itself related to the King Edward VI Aston School (Co No: 7656224), King Edward VI Camp Hill School for Boys 
(Co No: 7656262), King Edward VI Camp Hill School for Girls (Co No: 7656265), King Edward VI Handsworth School (Co No: 7656363) and 
King Edward VI Five Ways School (Co No: 7676490).  The Grammar Schools are related parties by virtue of the fact that the Foundation 
has an influence over the appointment of Governors at the Schools; the Foundation Office provides finance, accounting, payroll and 
personnel, admissions support and governance services to the Schools and the Foundation owns the land and buildings at the Schools.  
There is in place a 21 year licence to occupy the land and buildings between the Foundation and the Schools.  There is no charge to 
the Schools for the services provided by the Foundation but a small administration contribution was received during the year, in total 
amounting to £50,000. 

Transactions with the Grammar Schools during the year include:

King Edward VI Grammer Schools

Aston Camp 
Hill Boys Five Ways Camp 

Hill Girls Handsworth Total
2015

Total
2014

£ £ £ £ £ £ £
Income
Costs incurred by the Foundation and reimbursed
by the School 27,148 29,874 39,817 80,494 40,121 217,454 135,125

Contribution to the Foundation for services 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 50,000 50,396

Other 399 - - - - 399 -

Expenditure

Grants paid/payable 215,000 898,277 10,000 1,680,433 610,000 3,332,710 337,900

Payments from Restricted Funds 11,683 - 11,967 - - 23,650 48,545

Costs incurred by the School and reimbursed by the Foundation 9,931 7,499 15,088 14,432 11,102 58,052 31,134

Income received by the Foundation and passed to the Schools - 251,7141,810 3,914 2,830 21,537 2,824 32,915 251,714

Funds received in error and transferred to the School - - - - - - 134,664- - - - - - 134,664

Creditor at 31 August 2015 - - 1,459,135349,397 984,313 86,911 1,548,057 556,644 3,525,322 1,459,135

Creditor at 31 August 2014 710,298 90,715 109,504 41,860 506,758 1,459,135 -

Debtor at 31 August 2015 13,018 17,693 17,364 18,800 14,509 81,384 1,214

Debtor at 31 August 2014 198 423 198 198 198 1,214 -

The creditor balances owing at 31 August 2015 include the sum of £262,947 (Restricted Funds held on behalf of King Edward VI 
Aston School), £487,655 (Restricted Funds held on behalf of King Edward VI Handsworth School for Girls) and grants due to be paid 
to the Grammar Schools amounting to £888,277 (King Edward VI Camp Hill School for Boys) and £1,505,829 (King Edward VI Camp 
Hill School for Girls) together with Appeal Funds totalling £347,600 that are held on the Schools behalf 

The Foundation considers itself related to the King Edward VI Sheldon Heath Academy (Co No: 07002160).  The School is related 
by virtue of the fact that the Foundation is the Sponsor of the School; the Foundation has an influence over the appointment of its 
Governors and a payroll service is provided to the School.  During the year the School was invoiced by the Foundation for the sum 
of £5,611,745 covering the salaries initially paid by the Foundation.  At 31 August 2015 an amount of £500,700 (2014:  £522,496) was 
due from the School. 

The Chief Master and a Governor are also trustees of The King Edward’s School Birmingham Trust (Charity no: 1129776).  The Trust 
provides King Edward’s School with funding for Assisted Places. During the year the Trust paid the Foundation £510,252 to cover the 
Assisted Places

The Principal and two Governors are also trustees of The King Edward VI High School for Girls Birmingham Trust (Charity no: 1159413). 
The Trust was set up during 2014/15 to provide King Edward VI High School for Girls with funding for Assisted Places. No funding was 
paid to the Foundation during the year. The Foundation transferred Restricted Funds of £776,768 to the Trust during the year. 

Development Funding and Finance services are also provided by King Edward’s School to the Trusts. No charge is made for the 
services provided. The cost of the Development Team for the year at King Edward’s School was £105,352 and £110,849 at King 
Edward VI High School for Girls. 

Each Governor and member of the Senior Management within the Charity are required to complete an annual related party 
declaration form. No Governors received any remuneration or other benefits.  Travel expenses of £4,362 (2014: £2,746) were 
reimbursed to eight Governors during the year. 

Notes to the Accounts
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21 - Financial commitments
31 August 31 August 

2015 2014
£ £

Capital

At the end of the period, capital commitments were:
Contracted but not provided for - -

Operating leases

The annual commitments under operating leases for plant and machinery are analysed 
according to the period in which the lease expires, as follows:

31 August
2015

31 August
2014

£ £

Within one year  11,466  7,920 
Between two and five years  24,614  34,193 
Over five years  3,342  3,342 

39,422 45,455

22 - Contingent liabilities
There are no contingent liabilities reported at the year end.

23 - Insurance of Governors
In connection with their duties, the cost amounted to £6,973.

24 – Pension and similar obligations 

Employees belong to two principal defined benefit pension schemes: The Teachers’ Pension Scheme England and Wales (TPS) 
for academic and related staff; and The Schools of King Edward the Sixth Retirement Benefit Scheme (“the Scheme”) for non-
teaching staff. A further defined contribution pension scheme is in operation for non-teaching staff since April 2010.

The pension costs are assessed in accordance with the advice of independent qualified actuaries. The latest actuarial valuation of 
the TPS and Governors’ Pension Scheme was at 31 March 2015.

The combined cost of all the pension commitments is identified in Note 17.

Contributions amounting to £228,126 (2014: £235,473) were payable to the schemes at 31 August and are included within 
creditors. 

Teachers’ Pension Scheme

The Schools are members of the Teachers’ Pension Scheme (‘TPS’), a defined benefit pension scheme, to which both the Schools 
and staff contribute.

The TPS is a statutory, contributory, defined benefit scheme, governed by the Teachers’ Pensions Regulations (2010), and, from
1 April 2014, by the Teachers’ Pension Scheme Regulations 2014.  Membership is automatic for full-time teachers in academies 
and, from 1 January 2007, automatic for teachers in part-time employment following appointment or a change of contract, 
although they are able to opt out. 

The TPS is an unfunded scheme and members contribute on a “pay as you go” basis – these contributions along with those 
made by employers are credited to the Exchequer. Retirement and other pension benefits are paid by public funds provided by 
parliament.

Notes to the Accounts
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24 – Pension and similar obligations (continued) 

Valuation of Teachers’ Pension Scheme

Not less than every four years the Government Actuary, using normal actuarial principles, conducts a formal actuarial review of 
the TPS in accordance with the Public Service Pensions (valuations and Employer Cost Cap) Directions 2014 published by HM 
Treasury.  The aim of the review is to specify the level of future contributions. Actuarial scheme valuations are dependent on 
assumptions about the value of future costs, design of benefits and many other factors.  The latest actuarial valuation of the TPS 
was carried out as at 31 March 2012 and in accordance with the Public Service Pensions (Valuations and Employer Cost Cap) 
Directions 2014.  The valuation report was published by the Department for Education on 9 June 2014. The key elements of the 
valuation and subsequent consultation are:

	 •	 employer	contribution	rates	set	at	16.48%	of	pensionable	pay	including	a	0.08%	employer	administration	charge		 	
  (currently 14.1%); 
	 •	 total	scheme	liabilities	(pensions	currently	in	payment	and	the	estimated	cost	of	future	benefit)	for	service	to	the	effective		
  date of £191,500 million, and notional assets (estimated future contributions together with the notional investments held  
  at the valuation date) of £176,600 million, giving a notional past service deficit of £14,900 million; 
	 •	 an	employer	cost	cap	of	10.9%	of	pensionable	pay	will	be	applied	to	future	valuations.	and
	 •	 the	assumed	real	rate	of	return	is	3.0%	in	excess	of	prices	and	2%	in	excess	of	earnings.		The	rate	of	real	earnings	growth	is		
  assumed to be 2.75%.  The assumed notional rate of return is 5.06%.

During the year the employer rate was 14.1%.  The TPS valuation for 2012 determined an employer rate of 16.4% from September 
2015, which will be payable during the implementation period until the next valuation as at March 2016, whereupon the 
employer contribution rate is expected to be reassessed and will be payable from 1 April 2019. 

The pension costs to TPS in the period amounted to £1,632,266 (2014: £1,564,122)

A copy of the valuation report and supporting documentation is on the Teachers’ Pensions website (https://www.
teacherspensions.co.uk/news/employers/2014/06/publication-of-the-valuation-report.aspx)

Under the definitions set out in Financial Reporting Standard (FRS17) Retirement Benefits, the TPS is a multi-employer scheme.  
The school has accounted for its contributions to the scheme as if it were a defined contribution scheme.  The school has set out 
above the information available on the scheme.

Other Staff

Other staff of the Independent Schools and Foundation Office have been eligible to join a defined benefits Scheme operated by 
the Governors of the Foundation.  In March 2010 the Governors took the decision to close the Governors’ Pension Scheme to new 
members.

The investment management of the Scheme assets is managed by Ruffer LLP.  The value of the Fund units on 31 August 2015 was 
£10,563,104 (2014: £9,566,841).  The charge to the income and Expenditure Accounts for the year was £776,803 (2014: £789,403). 

The actuarial valuation of the Scheme as at 31 March 2012 revealed a funding shortfall. To eliminate the funding shortfall, the 
Trustees of the Scheme and the Foundation agreed that additional contributions would be paid into the Scheme. The actuarial 
valuation of the Scheme as at 31 March 2015 continued to show a funding shortfall, but less than the 2012 valuation. The funding 
shortfall is expected to be eliminated in 5.7 years after the date this recovery plan commences i.e. by 31 December 2020.

 Period Foundation Contributions towards the shortfall
 
 1 April 2013 to 31 March 2016 £41,667 per month
 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017 £30,833 per month
 1 April 2017 to 31 March 2018 £31,757 per month
 1 April 2018 to 31 December 2020 £32,710 per month, increasing on each Scheme anniversary by 3% each   
  subsequent 1 April.

The pension costs relating to the Scheme are assessed in accordance with the advice of a qualified actuary using the projected 
unit method.

Notes to the Accounts
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24 – Pension and similar obligations (continued) 

The latest actuarial valuation of the Scheme was at 31 March 2015.  The assumptions which have the most significant effects 
on the results of the valuation are those relating to investment returns and the rates of increase in salaries.  It was assumed that 
investment returns would average 4% per annum and the rate of salary growth would average 3% per annum.  The actuarial 
value of the assets, using the statutory funding objective, was sufficient to cover no more than 70% of the benefits which had 
accrued to members.

From April 2014, following a detailed staff consultation process, the Scheme was changed.  Previously future benefits for the 
Scheme were accrued on the basis of a member’s final salary.  The contribution rate for members was increased from 5% to 6% 
of pensionable salary with effect from 1 July 2006 (1 September 2006 for weekly paid staff). From April 2014 for future benefits 
only the Scheme was changed to a Career Average Revalued Earnings (“Care”) arrangement and a new three tier salary banding 
structure was introduced with benefit rates of 1/60th, 1/90th and 1/120th of average salaries. The benefit rate is more generous for 
the lower salary bands, in order to protect members at the lower end of the pay scale.    

In recent years, the employers’ contribution has increased from 10% to 17.2% on 1 April 2003, and further increased to 17.6% 
on 1 April 2004, to 18.3% on 1 April 2005, to 19.3% on 1 April 2007, and to 20.8% on 1 April 2010.  The 20.8% rate remained 
unchanged as a result of the Scheme review during 2013.  From 1 April 2016, as a result of the 2015 valuation the rate decreases 
to 17.4% with scheme expenses being paid by the foundation and not the Scheme Fund.

Unfunded pensions

In addition to the aforementioned Schemes, the Governors provide discretionary unfunded pensions out of general income.  
These amounted to £3,604 in the year ended 31 August 2015 (2014: £3,670). No provision for the actuarial liability is included 
within the balance sheet as it is not deemed significant.

Defined contribution scheme

New staff, or those staff who had been eligible but had not joined the defined benefits scheme are eligible to participate in a 
defined contribution scheme, administered by Scottish Widows.  By the 31 August 2015, 62 members of staff had joined (2014: 56).  
The employer contributions for the defined contribution scheme totalled £93,531 (2014: £63,687) based on rates of up to 8%.

FRS17 Disclosures

In November 2000, FRS17 “Retirement Benefits” was issued and has now been fully implemented by Governors. An actuarial 
estimate performed by an independent qualified actuary based on the last full valuation as at 31 March 2015, has been 
undertaken to provide the information required for FRS17. 

The Governors of the Schools of King Edward VI in Birmingham (the Foundation) operate a defined pension arrangement called 
the Schools of King Edward VI in Birmingham Retirement Benefits Scheme (the Scheme). The following disclosures exclude any 
allowance for defined benefit schemes operated by the Foundation. 

The Foundation expects to contribute £686,000 to the Scheme during the year to 31 August 2016. 

The principal assumptions used to calculate Scheme liabilities include:

 
31 August

2015
31 August

2014

Discount rate 3.90% 3.90%
Inflation assumption (RPI) 3.10% 3.00%
Inflation assumption (CPI) 2.30% 2.20%
Pension increases 3.10% 3.00%
Revaluation in deferment 2.30% 2.20%
Salary Increases 3.60% 3.50%

Post retirement mortality assumption
S1NA tables with CMI

2014 year of birth projections 
and long-term rate

of improvement of 1% pa

S1NA tables with CMI
2011 year of birth projections

and long-term rate
of improvement of 1% pa

Early retirements
40% of active members who joined pre 
2007 are assumed to retire at age 60, 

remainder at age 65

40% of active members who joined pre 
2007 are assumed to retire at age 60, 

remainder at age 65 

Tax free cash 60% of members are assumed to take 
25% of their pension as tax free cash

60% of members are assumed to take 
25% of their pension as tax free cash

Notes to the Accounts
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Under the adopted mortality tables, the future life expectancy at age 65 is as follows:

Life expectancy at age 65 31 August 2015 31 August 2014

Male currently aged 45 88.6 88.5
Female currently aged 45 90.9 91.1
Male currently aged 65 87.3 87.2
Female currently aged 65 89.4 89.6

31 August 2015 31 August 2014

Long-term expected rate of return on the Scheme’s 
assets net of expenses N/A* 4.50%

*Following changes from FRS17 to FRS102 the expected rate of return on Scheme assets is no longer required.  Instead it will be replaced by the 
assumed discount rate at the start of the period multiplied by the Scheme assets.

Assets

Asset category 31 August 2015

Equities and other growth assets 54%
Gilts & Bonds 39%
Cash 7%
Total 100%

The actual return on the Scheme’s assets net of expenses over the period to the Review Date was £688,000 i.e. + 6.9% of the asset 
value. The assets do not include any investments linked to the Foundation.

The expected return on assets is a weighted average of the assumed long-term returns for the various asset classes.  Equity 
and other asset returns are developed based on the selection of an appropriate risk premium above the risk free rate which 
is measured in accordance with the yield on government bonds.  Bond returns are selected by reference to the yields on 
government and corporate debt as appropriate to the Scheme’s holdings of these instruments.

Amounts recognised in the Balance Sheet at 31 August 2015

Value at Value at
31 August 2015 31 August 2014

£ £

Fair Value of assets 10,783,000 9,743,000
Present value of Scheme Liabilities (13,627,000) (13,772,000)

Surplus/(Deficit)  * (2,844,000) (4,029,000)

Balance Sheet Asset/(Liability) (2,844,000) (4,029,000)

*Surplus/(Deficit) shown prior to deferred taxation

Amounts disclosed on the balance sheet are made up of: Value at Value at
31 August 2015 31 August 2014

£ £
Assets
Fair Value of Assets 10,783,000 9,743,000

Liabilities 
Present Value of Funded Obligations (13,627,000) 13,772,000

Surplus/(Deficit)* (2,844,000) (4,029,000)

Net (Asset)/Liability (2,844,000) 4,029,000

*Surplus/(Deficit) shown prior to deferred taxation

Notes to the Accounts
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Amounts recognised in the Statement of financial activities over the year

31 August 31 August
2015 2014

 £ £

Current service cost 290,000 345,000
Interest cost 535,000 559,000
Expected return on assets (446,000) (458,000)

Total £379,000 £446,000

Reconciliation of Assets and Defined Benefit Obligation 

31 August 31 August
2015 2014

The change in the assets over the period was: £ £

Fair value of assets at the beginning of the period 9,743,000 9,110,000
Expected return on assets 446,000 458,000
Foundation contributions 777,000 668,000
Contributions by Scheme participants 80,000 83,000
Benefits paid (including expenses) (505,000) (289,000)
Actuarial gain/(loss) on assets 242,000 (287,000)

Fair value on assets at the end of the period £10,783,000 £9,743,000

The change in the Defined Benefit Obligation over the period was:

Defined Benefit Obligation at the beginning of the period 13,772,000 12,074,000
Current service cost 290,000 345,000
Contributions by Scheme participants 80,000 83,000
Interest cost 535,000 559,000
Benefits paid (505,000) (289,000)
Actuarial (gain)/loss on defined benefit obligation (545,000) 1,000,000

Defined Benefit Obligation at the end of the period £13,627,000 £13,772,000

The actuarial gains and losses for the current year are recognised in the statement of financial activities. The cumulative amount 
of actuarial gains and losses recognised in the statement of financial activities since the adoption of FRS17 is a £3,187,000 loss 
(2014: £3,974,000 loss).
 

Five year history 

 31 August 2015 31 August 2014 31 August 2013 31 August 2012 31 August 2011
£ £ £ £ £

Present value of the Defined Benefit Obligation (13,627,000) (13,772,000) (12,074,000) (10,579,000) (9,161,000)
Scheme Assets 10,783,000 9,743,000 9,110,000 7,509,000 7,008,000

Surplus/(Deficit) (2,844,000) (4,029,000) (2,964,000) (3,070,000) (2,153,000)

Experience gains and (losses) on Scheme Liabilities* 704,000 - - 277,000 -
Changes in assumptions used to value Scheme Liabilities (159,000) (1,000,000) (812,000) (1,083,000) 43,000
Experience adjustments on Scheme assets (242,000) (287,000) 592,000 (202,000) (29,000)

*Does not include allowance for changes in assumptions

24 – Pension and similar obligations (continued)
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The Governors are responsible for preparing the Annual report and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations. 

Charity law requires the Governors to prepare financial statements for each financial year in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law).  Under Charity Law, the Governors must not approve the 
financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the charity and of the incoming resources 
and application of resources, including the income and expenditure, of the charity for that period. 

In preparing these financial statements, the Governors are required to:

	 •	 select	suitable	accounting	policies	and	then	apply	them	consistently;

	 •	 make	judgements	and	accounting	estimates	that	are	reasonable	and	prudent;

	 •	 state	whether	applicable	UK	Accounting	Standards	have	been	followed,	subject	to	any	material	departures	disclosed	and	explained	in		
  the financial statements;

	 •	 prepare	the	financial	statements	on	the	going	concern	basis	unless	it	is	inappropriate	to	presume	that	the	charity	will	continue	in		 	
  business.

The Governors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the charity’s transactions and 
disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the charity and enable them to ensure that the financial statements 
comply with the Charities Act 2011.  They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the charity and hence for taking reasonable steps for 
the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

All of the Governors have taken all of the steps that they ought to have taken to make themselves aware of any information needed by the 
charity’s auditors for the purpose of this audit and to establish that the auditors are aware of that information. The Governors are not aware of any 
relevant audit information of which the auditors are unaware.

Approved by the Board of Governors on 30 March 2016 and signed on its behalf by:

Mr P. Burns     Mr G. Andronov 
Chairman      Bailiff

Statement of Governors’ Responsibilities
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BDO LLP
Statutory Auditor
Birmingham
United Kingdom
mm.mm.mmmm.mmmm
4 April 2016

BDO LLP is eligible to act as an auditor in terms of section 1212 of the Companies Act 2006.

BDO LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales (with registered number OC305127).

We have audited the financial statements of The Schools of King 
Edward the Sixth in Birmingham for the year ended 31 August 2015 
which comprise the Statement of Financial Activities, the Balance 
Sheet, the Cash Flow Statement and the related notes.  The financial 
reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is 
applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United 
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

This report is made solely to the charity’s Governors, as a body, in 
accordance with the Charities Act 2011.  Our audit work has been 
undertaken so that we might state to the charity’s Governors those 
matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for 
no other purpose.  To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not 
accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the charity and 
the charity’s Governors as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or 
for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of Governors and auditor

As explained more fully in the Statement of Governors’ 
Responsibilities, the Governors are responsible for the preparation of 
financial statements which give a true and fair view.

We have been appointed as auditor under section 144 of the Charities 
Act 2011 and report in accordance with regulations made under 
section 154 of that Act.  Our responsibility is to audit and express an 
opinion on the financial statements in accordance with applicable 
law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland).  Those 
standards require us to comply with the Financial Reporting Council’s 
(FRC’s) Ethical Standards for Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

A description of the scope of an audit of financial statements 
is provided on the FRC’s website at www.frc.org.uk/
auditscopeukprivate.

Opinion on financial statements

In our opinion the financial statements:
	 •	 give	a	true	and	fair	view	of	the	state	of	the	charity’s	affairs		
  as at 31 August 2015, and of its incoming resources and  
  application of resources, for the year then ended;
	 •	 have	been	properly	prepared	in	accordance	with	United		
  Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and
	 •	 have	been	prepared	in	accordance	with	the	requirements		
  of the Charities Act 2011.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters 
where the Charities Act 2011 requires us to report to you if, in our 
opinion:
	 •	 the	information	given	in	the	Governors’	Annual	Report	is		
  inconsistent in any material respect with the financial  
  statements; or
	 •	 sufficient	accounting	records	have	not	been	kept;	or
	 •	 the	financial	statements	are	not	in	agreement	with	the		
  accounting records and returns; or
	 •	 we	have	not	received	all	the	information	and	explanations		
  we require for our audit.

Independent auditor’s report to the Governors
of the Schools of King Edward the Sixth in Birmingham
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Management Information - Independent Schools

Income and Expenditure Account for the Year ended 31 August 2015

King Edward’s
School

High School
for Girls Total Total

Year Year Year Year Year Year
2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014

£ £ £ £ £ £
Income

Fees receivable 8,015,690 7,712,219 4,949,350 4,903,597 12,965,040 12,615,816
Lettings income 98,818 107,148 131,433 153,700 230,251 260,848
Catering income  342,171 388,803  156,757 150,759  498,928 539,562
Bank and other interest  561  1,213  1,032  1,079  1,593  2,292 
School activities  509,080 749,654  194,165 219,788  703,245 969,442
Sundry other income 170,472 51,560 59,527 54,076 229,999 105,636
Gifts, donations and bequests  21,587  13,665  1,570  1,005  23,157  14,670 

9,158,379 9,024,262 5,493,834 5,484,004 14,652,213 14,508,266

Transfers between funds
Grants from the Foundation 1,437,518 1,363,006 1,197,872 1,042,110 2,635,390 2,405,116

Total income 10,595,897 10,387,268 6,691,706 6,526,114 17,287,603 16,913,382

Expenditure

Teaching costs 7,300,804 7,158,637 4,568,996 4,336,190* 11,869,800 11,494,827
Catering and welfare 276,767 312,789 143,393 147,721 420,160 460,510
Premises 1,732,477 1,606,254 1,376,852 1,226,312 3,109,329 2,832,566
Administration of the school 851,177 775,594 775,043 585,135* 1,626,220 1,360,729
Furniture 17,080 9,350 3,567 5,836 20,647 15,186

Total expenditure 10,178,305 9,862,624 6,867,851 6,301,194 17,046,156 16,163,818

Net income/(expenditure) before transfers 417,592 524,644 (176,145) 224,920 241,447 749,564

Transfers between funds

Utilised for tangible fixed assets                                  - (951,082)  -   (27,911)  -   (978,993)
Funds set aside for specific projects     - -                 (35,000) (35,000) (35,000) (35,000)

Net incoming/(outgoing) resources 417,592 (426,438) (211,145) 162,009 206,447 (264,429)

Balances brought forward
at 1 September 2014 (419,428) 7,010 1,317,972 1,155,963 898,544 1,162,973

Balances carried forward
at 31 August 2015 (1,836) (419,428) 1,106,827 1,317,972 1,104,991 898,544

The above represents management information only and do not form part of the Financial Statements.

£104,315 of computing costs have been moved from Teaching costs to Administration of the school to align with the treatment in 2014/15.  
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Income and Expenditure Account for the Year ended 31 August 2015

Year Year
2015 2014

Income £ £

Rental income 2,773,763  2,721,443 
Investment income 878,691  942,219 
Bank and other interest 39,297  54,641 
Other income 177,012  79,326 

3,868,763 3,797,629

Sales of interests in land - amortised from Endowment Fund - Capital * 191,209  189,458 

 Total Return  - transferred from Endowment Fund - Capital * 1,175,000  900,000 

5,234,972 4,887,087
Expenditure

Management and administration, including support costs, to the 
Foundation Schools
        Foundation disbursements 100,879  119,354 
        Foundation Office 1,263,568  1,193,000 
        Resources Centre 12,859  13,299 
        Professional charges 164,369 189,618

1,541,675  1,515,271 
Investment management 148,810  140,406 
Estate management 142,670  101,317 
Office refurbishment 103,395  -   
Admissions 86,828  -   
Widening Access 250,635  87,729 

2,274,013  1,844,723 

Funds available for distribution 2,960,959  3,042,364 

Less: Grants to Schools payable from current period funds
Revenue grants to Independent Schools * 2,635,390 2,405,116
Revenue grants to Grammar Schools 3,332,710 337,900
Other revenue grants 10,000 20,000

5,978,100 2,763,016

Operating surplus for the period (3,017,141) 279,348

Balance brought forward at 1 September 2014 683,098 811,221

Less: FRS17 Pension Charge or plus Pension Credit

Additional amounts charged to Statement of Financial Activities (102,004) (156,420)
Actuarial gains / (losses) on defined benefit pension 787,000 (1,287,000)

684,996 (1,443,420)
Transfers between funds
Endowment Fund - Capital (FRS 17 Pension) *  (684,996) 1,443,420
Designated Fund (Grammar School Grants)  3,208,106 (375,200)
Designated Fund (Widening Access Programme) * (122,263) (32,271)

2,400,847 1,035,949

Balances carried forward at 31 August 2015 751,800 683,098

The above represents management information only and do not form part of the Financial Statements.

*Net expenditure totals £2,076,440 per Statement of Financial Activities

     

Management Information: Endowment Fund - Income




